
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Monday, 11 November 2019 at 
7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 10)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

6. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report – Quarter Two 
2019/20 

(Pages 11 - 26)

7. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2019/20 – Quarter Two (Pages 27 - 50)

8. Annual Review of the Payroll Shared Service (Pages 51 - 60)



9. Gravesham Borough Council Parking Services Enforcement Policy (Pages 61 - 86)

10.Procurement of Major & Planned Works, Servicing, Repairs & Maintenance 
Contracts 

(Pages 87 - 
114)

11.Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held 
on Wednesday, 11 September 2019 

(Pages 115 - 
122)

12.Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday, 10 October 2019 

(Pages 123 - 
130)

13.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

14.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B 
Items likely to be considered in Private

15.Write Offs (Pages 131 - 
138)

16.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinder Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace



1

Cabinet

Monday, 7 October 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinder Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Note: Councillors: Leslie Hills, Bob Lane and Jordan Meade were also in attendance 
were also in attendance

David Hughes Chief Executive
Stuart Bobby Director (Corporate Services)
Nick Brown Director (Housing and Operations)
Kevin Burbidge Director (Planning & Development)
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning)
Shazad Ghani Planning Manager (Policy)
Andy Rayfield Communications Manager
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

30. Apologies for absence 

No apologies for absence were received.

31. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2019 were signed by the Chair.

32. Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest made.

33. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

No decisions other than those already circulated had been made.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 7.10.2019

2

34. Local Plan - Statement of Community  Involvement 

The Director (Planning & Development) introduced all three Local Plan reports and noted 
that his role had changed to enable him to focus on Housing Strategy and Development, 
Development Management and Planning Policy, which includes the delivery of the Local 
Plan in accordance with the updated Local Development Scheme which was being 
submitted for approval. He confirmed that resources were in place to drive forward and 
deliver this process.

The Planning Manager (Policy) introduced the Statement of Community Involvement which 
set out how local and statutory stakeholders would be consulted as part of the plan making 
and decision taking processes in terms of planning. The principle behind this approach was 
to provide greater clarity and transparency to stakeholders whilst fostering local ownership of 
both the strategic approach taken in planning terms and decisions taken.

A complete refresh of the Statement of Community Involvement was required rather than 
minor changes. However, the approach continued to be one that followed the requirements 
of Government regulations and best practice.  

The following points were raised during discussion on this item:

 Following a question about the range of the consultation process, it was confirmed 
that the main Local Plan document would be submitted to Cabinet before being 
considered for approval by Council for formal adoption.  However, the supplementary 
planning documents of the Local Plan, such as the windows and doors guidance 
document, can be adopted by Cabinet. The officer also confirmed that approval 
would not be sought from any Member-led review groups. 

 It was noted that the Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee would be part of the 
consultation process.

 Attention was drawn to paragraph 5.13 of Appendix 2 and Members were advised 
that the Council was required to meaningfully engage with neighbouring local 
authorities on strategic cross-border issues for example, not being able to meet 
housing targets. For Kent County Council this cross-border discussion might include 
education, highways, waste and minerals. During the process of the preparation of 
our Local Plan documents, the duty to co-operate was with the Borough Council. 
Conversely for KCC’s mineral and waste plans, the duty was within them. As they 
produce their own Local Plans, other local authorities will have their own duty to 
consult and co-operate on cross-boundary issues.

 It was confirmed that whilst social media would be used to promote the consultation 
such channels would not be utilised for two-way correspondence. Potential 
consultees would be directed to the Council’s online consultation system and 
comments would be submitted using a standard format. The system would also 
provide general global feedback on the progress of the consultation and any 
oncoming deadlines. Consultees would also be reminded of response deadlines by 
appropriate means e.g. letter, by email and by social media.

 It was acknowledged that since the last Statement of Community Involvement had 
been published in 2007, the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 had introduced new 
requirements regarding the involvement of interested parties including parish 
councils who can prepare their own Neighbourhood Plans. The officer confirmed that 
the Council did engage with the parish councils, but it was up to the parishes to 

Page 4



Cabinet 7.10.2019

3

promote their own neighbourhood plans. However, he undertook to look at this issue 
and discuss it further with Members in due course. 

 Following a question on how stakeholders were identified, Members were advised 
that best practice was used as a guide. However, the officer asked for Members input 
to enable to Council to go above and beyond.

 The Planning Manager (Policy) confirmed that stakeholders could send their 
response to the consultation by letter.

 The Planning Manager (policy) explained that the Statement of Community 
Involvement set out what would normally be undertaken but, it was likely that for 
each consultation phase, consideration would be given to what might be needed in 
addition to the requirements set out in the Statement of Community Involvement.  For 
example, it was anticipated that consultations could be also be publicised in “Your 
Borough”. 

 The Chair confirmed that officers understood that the consultation and associated 
process would be run as per the recommended timescales within resources with no 
delays.

Resolved that the Statement of Community Involvement be approved.

35. Local Plan - Draft Development Management Policies Document 

The Planning Manager (Policy) reported that the main purpose of a Development 
Management Policies document was to provide detailed policies to help determine day-to-
day planning applications and to build upon the more strategic policies of the Local Plan 
Core Strategy. 

The Stage 1 consultation version of the document had been revised in light of comments 
received and changes made to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and 
Planning Practice Guidance. This meant that some policies had been modified, some 
policies deleted and new policies added. There had also been changes to the NPPF such as 
the introduction of Build to Rent and Affordable Private Rent which would be dealt through 
the Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review rather than this document.

Members were asked to note that the proposed Policy DM:22 Local Green Spaces set out a 
clear policy for protecting and managing Local Green Spaces. However, the designation of 
land as Local Green Space would be done via the Site Allocations element of the work 
currently being undertaken and this would be reported to Cabinet in January 2020.

The following points were raised during discussion on this item:

 Members noted that the Draft Development Management Policies Document did not 
cover strategic policies and a partial review of these would be submitted to Cabinet 
for consideration in January 2020. The officer confirmed that the Local Plan Core 
Strategy Partial Review would address strategic matters arising from changes to the 
NPPF e.g. Build to Rent.

 It was noted that the consultation responses included in the report were mainly from 
developers and other interested parties who had staff resources to go through and 
respond in detail to the Draft Development Management Policies Document. 
However, there were not many comments from public. Cabinet was advised that this 

Page 5



Cabinet 7.10.2019

4

was not unexpected considering the detailed nature of the policies. In response to 
concerns that just relying on these views which were often trying to promote 
developer aspirations could be limiting, Members were reassured that as well as 
considering the views submitted, officers reviewed and made professional judgments 
on each response and proposed change, and accompanying explanations would 
assist the Planning Inspectorate when examining the plan. The Assistant Director 
(Planning) confirmed that interactive policy discussion at meetings of Regulatory 
Board (planning), appeal decisions and High Court judgements were used to inform 
officers when making these judgments. Another issue was the Government changing 
their previous approach to, for example, housing space standards. However, the 
officer confirmed that Members were a fundamental part of the decision-making 
process with regard to the Local Plan.  

Resolved that:

1. the Development Management Policies Document (attached at Appendix 4 
of the report) be placed on public consultation in January to February 
2020 under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012; and

2. the Assistant Director (Planning), in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Strategic Environment. be authorised to agree changes to the 
document before publication, including further changes that maybe 
needed as a result of the iterative Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic 
Environmental Assessment process 

36. Local Plan - Local Development Scheme 

Cabinet was advised that the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 
placed a statutory duty on the Council to maintain an up-to-date Local Development 
Scheme. The revised Local Development Scheme would fulfil this requirement.

Cabinet was advised that the Local Development Scheme set out the timetable for local plan 
documents that the Council would be producing in the coming years. The timetable provided 
details regarding key milestones and highlights when decisions would be needed from 
Cabinet or Council. In summary, the Council would be going out to consultation in January 
and September 2020 followed by submission of the documents to the Planning Inspectorate 
by February 2021. After submission, the timetable was dictated primarily by the resources 
available at the Planning Inspectorate and the nature of the objections received from 
stakeholders.  Section 8 of the Local Development Scheme also included a high level risk 
assessment. 

The following points were raised during discussion on this item:

 Officers confirmed that, with the assistance of Members and in the knowledge of the 
risks identified, there should be no slippage on the proposed timetable. The Director 
(Planning & Development) confirmed that this process was a joint effort between 
Councillors and officers and he thanked Members for their support. 

 The Planning Manager (Policy) confirmed that he has happy with the good, clear 
guidance received from Members

 Members were advised that work on the Local Plan was undertaken alongside the 
Council’s Corporate Plan in an effort to shape the future of the Borough. It was 
considered to be of the highest priority which was why the three comprehensive 

Page 6



Cabinet 7.10.2019

5

documents had been submitted to reassure Members that officers had a good grip on 
the process. It was recognised that this was a significant piece of work, but given 
sufficient resources and the continued co-operation of Members, the timetable was 
achievable.

The Chair advised that officers and the Portfolio Holder would be held to account during this 
process and he hoped that all Members of the Council would work together to safeguard the 
future of the Borough and to avoid haphazard, unwanted developments in the area.

In addition, the Chair reported that individuals, who were rightly perturbed, had complained 
about the failure of the Borough Council to undertake the Green Belt Review and update the 
Local Plan had threatened a Judicial Review. However it was important to acknowledge the 
tremendous amount of work undertaken by the Assistant Director (Planning) and the 
Planning Manager (Policy) and their colleagues and the Chair hoped that this enthusiasm 
would continue and the process would speed up in the next 4 to 5 months.

Resolved that the Local Development Scheme (attached at Appendix 2 of the 
report) be approved prior to its publication on the Council’s website.

37. Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 
held on 11 September 2019 

The Cabinet noted the minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 
held on 11 September 2019.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.12 pm

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 11 November 2019 / 12 November 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report  – 
Quarter Two 2019/20

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2019/20, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2019/20 financial year for 
the second quarter to 30 September 2019 as well as updating Members on other key 
areas of financial performance. 

1.2. The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition 
to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, 
these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved by 
Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, 
as set out in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HRA (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of Quarter Two, income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, albeit 
with an increased anticipated contribution from reserves to fund projected revenue 
expenditure for the year. The main variance within the forecast position compared to the 
original budget is an increased contribution to meet carry-forwards from 2018/19 within 
the Capital Programme and current year capital spend. There are also projected 
underspends within salaries and repairs and maintenance.

2.2. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £3.0m, at the minimum 
level of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are projected to result in 
a net decrease in the General HRA Reserves of £5.06m, with the level of reserves being 
£6.09m at start of year and projected to be £1.08m at year-end.

2.3. The significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the lack of clarity 
regarding funding and regulatory reform. 

Housing Capital

2.3.1. The revised budget for the Housing Capital Programme for the year is £18.6m, with    
expenditure and commitments to the end of Quarter Two of £10.4m.

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

3.1. Budget 2019/20

3.1.1. The table on the next page sets out the current forecast spend against the original 
budget for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances to 30 September 
2019.  As at 30 September 2019, the forecast reflects a saving of £454k against the 
original budgets within Supervision and Management and Repairs and Maintenance.  
This figure, however, is offset by the increase to Capital Financing in order to meet the 
costs of the carry forward capital programme from 2018/19 as well as additional current 
year costs.  The net effect is an adverse variance to original budget of £1.54m.

Page 10



3

Description
Original 
Budget 

2019/20 (£)

Forecast   
2019/20 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 5,357,200 5,253,200 (104,000)
Repairs and Maintenance 7,618,140 7,268,140 (350,000)
Depreciation 6,911,810 6,911,810 0
Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 667,490 667,490 0
Capital Finance 10,189,750 12,191,730 2,001,980
Sub Total Expenditure 30,744,390 32,292,370 1,547,980
Rents of Dwellings (25,031,400) (25,031,400) 0
Other Rental Income (29,300) (29,300) 0
Service Charges (1,399,800) (1,399,800) 0
Non Dwelling Income (140,000) (140,000) 0
Intensive Management Fund - Income (521,480) (521,480) 0
Other Income (112,450) (112,450) 0
Sub Total Income (27,234,430) (27,234,430) 0
Contributions to/(from) reserves (3,509,960) (5,057,940) (1,547,980)
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 1: Housing Revenue Account 2019/20

3.2. SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT –  £104k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.2.1. Vacancy Management: £104k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2019/20 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It is anticipated that 
this will occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within 
day-to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending the re-design of 
services.  For the first half of the financial year, actual staffing spend was £104k lower 
than budgeted.

3.3. REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE – £350k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.4. Repairs & Maintenance: £350k – favourable variance – The Responsive Repairs 
Team continue to deliver efficiencies and savings in its operations whilst providing a 
service that meets the council’s objectives as a landlord as well as managing tenant 
expectations.  Whilst the current projected underspend is likely, it is important to 
remember that this budget funds a reactive service where demand naturally fluctuates in 
response to factors outside of the council’s control.

Page 11



4

CAPITAL FINANCING – £2.00m ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.4.1. New Build Programme – £1.63m - adverse variance – The current forecasts indicate 
that spend in Quarters Three and Four will result in expenditure above the original 
budget.  This does not raise concern at this stage as it represents an acceleration of 
spend against the retained right to buy receipts and the council’s match funding but it is 
subject to change as the build programme progresses. 

3.4.2. The Housing Strategy Manager and Finance Officers continue to work closely to 
monitoring the progress of the current schemes to ensure that the Council is not 
required to pay back funds Central Government.

3.4.3. Capital Financing – £213k – adverse variance - In Quarter One an adverse variance 
of £413k had been identified due to the use of the revenue reserve to meet the needs of 
the carry forward capital programme.  However, in Quarter Two this variance has been 
reduced by efficiency savings of £200k within the capital programme.

3.4.4. Interest - £152k – adverse variance - The introduction of a two loans pool at the end of 
2018/19 has resulted in additional interest being apportioned to the HRA to reflect the 
current year position of the HRA associated loans.

3.5. Working Balances and Reserves

3.5.1. The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 
balances:

Working Balances £

Balance Brought Forward from 2018/19 3,000,000
Forecast Outturn position 2019/20 (5,057,940)
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2019) including 
minimum HRA Working Balance (2,057,940)

Add: Transfer from HRA General Reserve (Revenue) 5,057,940
Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 30 September 2019) 3,000,000

Table 2: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

3.5.2. The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist with 
future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

3.5.3. The opening balance on the Revenue Reserve stood at £6.08m with the approved 
budget expending £3.58m. However, due to the forecasted accelerated spend in 
quarters three and four for the new build programme, additional resources of £1.63m is 
anticipated. The additional funds are offset by savings recognised in quarter two against 
both the Capital and Revenue budgets.   

 

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2019 
£'000

Forecast 
Contributions 

(Income) 
£'000

Forecast Use 
of Reserve 

(Expenditure) 
£'000

Forecast 
Balance 

31/03/2020 
£'000

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (6085) 0 (5058) (1028)

Total (6085) 0 (5058) (1028)

Table 3: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

Page 12



5

3.6. HRA Business Planning

3.6.1. The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into account 
longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants and energy 
prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget resulting from 
Management Team and Cabinet decisions.

3.6.2. The HRA Business Plan reflects the current and future financial spend profiles identified 
in the recent Stock Condition Survey produced by Penningtons in July 2018.  It also 
reflects future forecasts of the New Build Programme beyond the existing three year 
scheme based on the current assumption of the sale of 30 Council Houses per annum.

3.6.3. The latest version of the HRA Business Plan is attached to this report at Appendix Two.

3.6.4. On 9 October 2019 HM Treasury announced that it would increase the interest rates on 
all new loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) by 100 basis points (one 
percentage point) on top of usual lending terms.  This appears to be in response to a 
substantial increase in the use of PWLB by local authorities over recent months, given 
the cost of borrowing had fallen to record lows.  This action is likely to make the PWLB 
the lender of last resort and require the council to identify alternative sources.  

3.6.5. Shorter term funding, up to five years, is likely to be available from some local authorities 
and banks but securing longer term funding could prove difficult.  Borrowing from the 
market longer term requires additional time both for planning and administration and 
even then it might not be possible to find a lender that matches the specific 
requirements, forcing us to take on more expensive debt. 

3.6.6. As a result, the cost of borrowing for capital purposes will significantly rise, payback 
periods will lengthen and in some cases scheme affordability could be jeopardised.  It 
will be a case of waiting to see how the market reacts to this sudden announcement and 
what levels are achievable going forward.

Page 13



6

4. HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1. The Housing Capital programme for 2019/20 is £18,632,520 of which £17,106,120 
relates to HRA capital schemes and £1,526,400 relates to non-HRA capital schemes.  
These budgets include £1,216,890 and £693,600, respectively that are carried forward 
from 2018/19.

4.2. The HRA capital schemes continue to focus on maintaining the minimum decent homes 
standard for the Council’s stock in 2019/20, with £8,763,820 earmarked for this purpose 
within the Replacement, Improvement and Health & Safety Works Programmes.  The 
council also continues its commitment to build new homes with £7,662,300 allocated for 
this purpose.

Ref No: Project
 Original Budget 

2019-20 inc CFwd 
(£)

Expenditure 
Including 

Commitments 
(£)

Balance 
Outstanding 

(£)

A Replacement Programmes 4,920,550 3,923,430 (997,120)
B Improvement Programmes 2,069,290 1,436,210 (633,080)
C Health & Safety Works 1,773,980 1,667,430 (106,550)
D New Build & Acquisions 7,662,300 3,009,490 (4,652,810)
E Housing Computer Systems 600,000 0 (600,000)
F Replacement Play Equipment 80,000 0 (80,000)

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 17,106,120 10,036,560 (7,069,560)
G Disabled Facilities Grant 1,526,400 385,309 (1,141,091)

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 18,632,520 10,421,869 (8,210,651)

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 4: Housing Capital Programme 2019/20

4.3. The following works were undertaken or completed by the end of Quarter Two 2019/20:

4.3.1. Replacement Programmes (Ref A)

 101 kitchen replacements;

 72 bathroom replacements;

 10 properties had new window and door replacements.  A further 54 properties 
have had new windows, including properties and the communal area at The Hive 
which include properties and communal areas.  The Hive block programme is 
now 90% complete;

 639 properties had electrical tests and/or remedial works including rewiring, 
minor works and upgrades to consumer units;

 20 blocks has had communal electrical tests and/or remedial works completed;
 3 residential blocks had the roofing completely replaced;

 15 domestic properties have had roof renewals.

4.3.2. Across the Replacement Programmes, savings of £100k is expected to be achieved at 
the end of the Financial Year.  This is due to the Heating Installation Programme being 
delivered more competitively.

Page 14



7

4.3.3. Improvement Programmes (Ref B)

 273 properties had new central heating systems installed;

 13 properties had new storage heating installed;

 61 properties had level access showers/wet rooms/over bath showers installed;

 10 adaptations completed (kitchens, wheelchair accessibility);

 A major refurbishment project at Park Place comprising of 6 blocks has been 
completed.  This included the renewal of flat roofs, upgrades to the stairways, 
handrails, balustrades and new/re-surfacing to walkways.

4.3.3. Across the Improvement Programmes, savings of £100k is expected to be achieved at 
the end of the Financial Year.  This is due to the reduction in numbers of Kitchen Void 
work required to date within 2019/20.  

4.3.5. Health & Safety Works (Ref C)

 2 passenger lifts situated in Wallis Park have had major modernisation works 
carried out;

 The retrofitting of a Fire Sprinkler system at Homemead has been completed and 
awaiting the final sign-off from the project manager;

 Works are 90% complete in respect of the retrofitting of the fire sprinkler system 
at Gravesham Court;

 Works have commenced to upgrade the warden call equipment to 4 sheltered 
schemes, door entry equipment to 5 blocks, and access control equipment to 19 
sites.

4.4. New Build (Ref D)

4.4.1. The authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain part of the Right To Buy 
(RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition of additional 
social housing.  The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter Two:

 Construction continues at St Hilda’s Way with the housing scheme is expecting 
to be completed by the end of 2019.  The scheme is set to deliver 10 x 1 and 2 
bed flats, 4 x 2 bed maisonettes and 32 x 2 bed houses;

 Westridge Construction Limited are on site at the former Whitehill Tenants 
Associations Club site where they are constructing 24 x 1 and 2 bed flats and 8 x 
3 bed houses;

 Planning permission has been granted for the demolition of bedsits at Valley 
drive and the construction of 32 x 1 bed flats for over 55’s and 16 x 1, 2 and 3 
bed general needs flats.  The scheme is out to tender via the South East 
Consortium with tenders due to be returned by 8 November;

 Planning permission has been granted to build 23 x 1 and 2 bed flats on the land 
at St Patrick’s Gardens.  The tender documentation is currently being prepared;

 The erection of two single dwellings were permitted at Regulatory Board on 4 
October being 1 x 3 bed house at Wilberforce Way and 1 x 1 bed bungalow at 
Barr Road.  Continued consideration is being given to other sites across the 
borough to enable the delivery of new council homes

Page 15



8

4.4.2. The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred in 
2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2019, the balance on the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve fund stood at £438,550.  The proposal is to use the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects, ahead of any other funding 
source, as this can either be used to repay debt or finance the capital programme. 

4.4.3. Table 13 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver the 
New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be delivered to 
avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £

2012-15 c/f 3,330,320 7,770,750 11,101,070 51,278,050 31-Mar-17
2015-16
Q1 124,270 289,960 414,230 11,515,300 30-Jun-18
Q2 233,510 544,870 778,380 12,293,680 30-Sep-18
Q3 589,670 1,375,910 1,965,580 14,259,260 31-Dec-18
Q4 650,580 1,518,010 2,168,590 16,427,860 31-Mar-19
2016-17
Q1 697,650 1,627,850 2,325,500 18,753,360 30-Jun-19
Q2 205,200 478,790 683,990 19,437,350 30-Sep-19
Q3 541,710 1,263,990 1,805,700 21,243,060 31-Dec-19
Q4 532,670 1,242,890 1,775,560 23,018,620 31-Mar-20
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-20
Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-20
Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-20
Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-21
2018-19
Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-21
Q2 484,630 1,130,800 1,615,430 32,986,460 30-Sep-21
Q3 379,770 886,130 1,265,900 34,252,360 31-Dec-21
Q4 238,610 556,760 795,370 35,047,730 31-Mar-22
2019-20
Q1 383,470 894,760 1,278,230 36,325,960 30-Jun-22
Q2 1,382,090 3,224,870 4,606,960 40,932,920 30-Sep-22

10,897,780 25,428,180 36,325,960

Table 5: New Build

4.5. Housing Computer System (Ref E)
4.5.1. Following the due diligence previously undertaken, and as advised in the Quarter One 

report, the review of the procurement options available to the council is ongoing.  To 
date, four suppliers have delivered system demonstrations to council officers.

Page 16



9

4.6. Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

4.6.1. A draft action plan has been drawn up to establish the current needs in the form of a 
play-site replacement programme.  Once reviewed and approved, the capital funding will 
be allocated against the areas that are identified as the highest priority.

4.7. Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref I) 

4.7.1. The grant funding awarded to the Council, via the Better Care Fund, in 2019/20 was 
£832,800.  The total funding available is £1,526,430 which includes carry forward from 
2018/19 of £693,630.

4.7.2. The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible 
for assistance that comply with the wider remit of the Better Care.  In Quarter Two of 
2019/20 a total of 85 cases have been processed, of which the breakdown is as follows:

 14 grant cases were approved

 16 households had works completed

 7 applications were cancelled due to changes in the client’s circumstances

 48 grant cases are awaiting approval

4.7.3. The Council distributed £92,710 to private homeowners within the borough who qualify 
for Disabled Facility Grant assistance and additional grants totalling £192,300 have been 
approved in principal.

4.7.4 A total of 19 people have benefited from the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy 
which enables people to gain access to funding which otherwise would not have been 
available.  It has assisted 8 people to have better managed hospital discharges and a 
further 11 people have been discharged from hospital into a safer home environment.

4.8. Capital Resources
4.8.1. The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2019 (£)

Income 
2019/20 (£)

Use of 
Funding 

2019/20 (£)

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2020 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (1,318,810) (257,300) 1,099,970 (476,140)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (68,900) 0 0 (68,900)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (1,402,480) (6,911,810) 8,314,290 0
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (652,030) 0 652,030 0
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (5,544,950) (2,752,840) 2,298,690 (5,999,100)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve (438,550) (726,230) 1,155,570 (9,210)
Disabled Facility Grants (693,640) (832,800) 1,526,400 (40)
Christianfields Overage (766,000) 0 0 (766,000)
Total (14,458,360) (11,480,980) 15,046,950 (10,892,390)

Table 6: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2019/20

4.8.2. Projected Capital Expenditure and funding requirements for the HRA can be found at 
Appendix Three to this report.

 

Page 17



10

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 
September against the original budget set for the 2019/20 financial year, and 
illustrate how this affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by 
the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 18

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


11

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 HRA - Business Plan Revenue Summary.pdf

Original 

Budget Q2

HRA Budget Monitoring 2019.20 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Expenditure

Supervision and Management 5,357 5,253 4,852 5,551 5,729 5,924 6,125 6,334 6,549 6,772 7,002

Repairs and Maintenance 7,618 7,268 7,917 8,067 8,244 8,442 8,645 8,852 9,065 9,282 9,505

Depreciation 6,912 6,912 7,116 7,297 7,455 7,635 7,820 8,009 8,202 8,401 8,604

Intensive Housing Management - Expenditure 667 667 686 705 728 753 778 805 832 860 890

Capital Finance 7,017 7,176 7,864 7,637 7,922 8,140 8,354 8,308 8,250 8,185 8,111

RCCO 3,173 5,015 392 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 30,744 32,292 28,827 29,258 30,078 30,893 31,722 32,308 32,899 33,500 34,111

Income

Rents of Dwellings (25,031) (25,031) (26,209) (27,014) (27,718) (28,494) (29,291) (29,819) (30,355) (30,899) (31,452)

Other Rental Income (Phone masts etc) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29)

Service Charges (1,400) (1,400) (1,435) (1,474) (1,519) (1,568) (1,619) (1,671) (1,725) (1,781) (1,838)

Non Dwelling Income (Garages & Commercial) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140)

Intensive Housing Management  - Income (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521)

Other Income (Interest, Ins Reimburse & CCentre) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112)

Total Income (27,234) (27,234) (28,447) (29,291) (30,040) (30,865) (31,713) (32,293) (32,883) (33,483) (34,094)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (3,510) (5,058) (380) 33 (39) (28) (9) (15) (16) (17) (18)

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balances and Reserves

HRA Working Balances

B/fwd Balance 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

Variances per budget report (3,510) (5,058) (380) 33 (39) (28) (9) (15) (16) (17) (18)

Forecast Working Balances C/fwd (510) (2,058) 2,620 3,033 2,961 2,972 2,991 2,985 2,984 2,983 2,982

Movement (to)/from HRA General Reserve 3,510 5,058 380 (33) 39 28 9 15 16 17 18

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

HRA General Reserve

Opening Balance 6,085 6,085 1,028 256 289 250 222 213 199 183 166

Use to support revenue position (337) (43) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Use in capital financing (3,173) (5,015) (392) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Surplus on HRA revenue account 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Deficit on HRA revenue account 0 0 (380) 0 (39) (28) (9) (15) (16) (17) (18)

Forecast HRA General Reserve Balances C/fwd 2,575 1,028 256 289 250 222 213 199 183 166 148

Funding Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 HRA - Business Plan Capital Summary

Original Budget Q2

HRA Capital Budget Monitoring 2019.2 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Capital Expendture

Capital Maintenance Expenditure

Replacement Programme 4,921 4,821 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Improvement Programme 2,069 1,969 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Health & Safety 1,774 1,774 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Planned Maintenance 0 0 1,038 3,611 4,575 7,517 5,314 5,431 5,550 5,673 5,797

Kitchen 0 0 1,014 1,032 1,052 1,075 1,099 1,123 1,148 1,173 1,199

Bathroom 0 0 386 393 401 410 419 428 437 447 457

Heating Installations 0 0 1,220 1,241 1,266 1,294 1,322 1,351 1,381 1,411 1,443

Disabled Adaptations 0 0 509 517 527 539 551 563 575 588 601

Asbestos Management 0 0 71 72 74 75 77 79 81 82 84

Electrical Testing 0 0 809 822 839 857 876 895 915 935 956

Precaution Works 0 0 679 691 316 323 331 338 345 353 361

Communal 0 0 657 668 682 697 712 727 743 760 777

Major Voids 0 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Savings Required 0 0 0 (692) (1,188) (4,050) (1,770) (1,804) (1,839) (1,874) (1,909)

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 8,764 8,564 6,784 8,356 8,545 8,737 8,931 9,132 9,338 9,549 9,765

Other Capital Expenditure

Housing Computer System 600 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Virtual Desktop & IT Infrastructure 0 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Play Equipment 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 680 680 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure

Packham Road 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Purchases from the Market 0 1,666 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Kings Farm 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Hilda's 0 1,360 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Whitehill Road 0 3,233 2,561 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Valley Drive 0 2,694 6,655 125 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Claremont Place 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Chichester Rise 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Development Enabler 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build 7,662 157 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Programme Unidentified Scheme 0 0 1,280 5,959 9,176 11,118 11,711 12,308 12,926 13,566 14,228

New Build Expenditure Total 7,662 9,123 10,497 6,084 9,176 11,118 11,711 12,308 12,926 13,566 14,228

Total Capital Expenditure 17,106 18,367 17,281 14,440 17,721 19,855 20,642 21,440 22,264 23,115 23,993

Financing

HRA Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA New Build Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

MRR (8,966) (8,966) (7,116) (7,297) (7,455) (7,635) (7,820) (8,009) (8,202) (8,401) (8,604)

RTB - Attributable Debt (1,156) (1,156) (828) (819) (819) (819) (819) (819) (819) (819) (819)

RTB - LA Share 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - Transaction Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital receipts (1,100) (1,100) (740) (264) (264) (264) (264) (264) (264) (264) (264)

Gen Cap Reserve 0 0 (0) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gen Cap Reserve 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA General Reserve/RCCO (3,586) (5,015) (392) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA Reserve 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - 141 Receipts (2,299) (2,130) (1,652) (1,797) (2,753) (3,335) (3,513) (3,692) (3,878) (4,070) (4,268)

Capital Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

S106 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Returned to Capital Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Borrowing 0 0 (6,552) (4,264) (6,431) (7,802) (8,226) (8,656) (9,101) (9,562) (10,038)

Total Financing (17,106) (18,367) (17,281) (14,440) (17,721) (19,855) (20,642) (21,440) (22,264) (23,115) (23,993)

Net Over/Under Financing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 11 November 2019 / 12 November 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2019/20 – Quarter 
Two

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2019/20, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, or Financial 
Statements.

Recommendations:

1. This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2019/20 financial year for 
the first quarter to 30 September 2019 as well as updating Members on other key areas 
of financial performance. 

1.2. The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition 
to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, 
these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved by 
Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, 
as set out in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 25 Agenda Item 7



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

General Fund - Revenue

2.1. At the end of Quarter Two there is projected underspend for the year of £568,330.  
Movements affecting the forecast position against the original budget for the year in the 
main pertain to continued implementation of Bridging the Gap activity.

2.2. The council ended 2018/19 in a favourable position, enabling budgets totalling £184,670 
to be approved for carry forward into 2019/20.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end is projected to be £9.72m, constituted of the 
minimum working balances of £1.25m, the General Fund reserve of £4.00m and usable 
Working Balances of £4.47m. 

2.4. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net decrease in reserves of £0.76m, 
with the level of reserves being £11.24m at start of year and projected to be £10.48m at 
year- end.

2.5. Significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position continue to come from the lack 
of clarity regarding the long-term future of local government funding.

2.6. General Fund - Capital

2.7. The revised budget of the General Fund Capital Programme for the year is £23.93m, 
including £11.68m to support furtherance of the council’s land and commercial property 
portfolio and £8.27m to fund the initial works to redevelop the St George’s Shopping 
Centre.  Actual spend to the end of Quarter Two was £1.02m. 

3. GENERAL FUND - REVENUE

3.1. Budget 2019/20

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2019/20 was £11,474,270, funded by 
retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, Council Tax and use of £742,500 
Usable Working Balances, in accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. Following some limited changes to the responsibilities of Directors and Assistant 
Directors from 2nd September, the former Environment & Operations and Housing & 
Regeneration directorates have been adjusted to Housing & Operations and Planning & 
Development respectively. This reflects the transfer of Housing Services from Housing & 
Regeneration to Housing & Operations. The table on the next page and subsequent 
commentary reflects the revised structure and sets out the current assessment of 
performance against the Original Budget by Directorate, based on known variances as 
at 30 September 2019.

Page 26



3

 

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2019/20 (£)

Forecast 
2019/20 (£)

Variation 
2019/20 (£)

Chief Executive 28,000 28,000 0
Communities 3,793,880 3,339,630 (454,250)
Corporate Services 3,682,040 3,682,040 0
Housing & Operations 2,608,450 2,578,450 (30,000)
Planning & Development 2,148,620 2,148,620 0
Items Carried Forward from 2018-19 0 184,670 184,670
Non-Directorate Specific 1,134,900 1,134,900 0
Interest and Investment Income (843,720) (918,720) (75,000)
Government Grant Funding (1,213,840) (1,282,970) (69,130)
Transfers to/ (from) reserves (622,740) (538,550) 84,190
Transfers to/ (from) balances 611,150 611,150 0
Transactions below the line 147,530 63,340 (84,190)
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 11,474,270 11,030,560 (443,710)

Business Rates Income (3,085,050) (3,209,670) (124,620)
Council Tax Income (6,892,290) (6,892,290) 0
Parish Precepts (339,740) (339,740) 0
New Homes Bonus (611,150) (611,150) 0
Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 196,460 196,460 0
Use of Working Balances (742,500) (742,500) 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 (568,330) (568,330)
Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

 
3.2. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.2.1 There are no significant variances to report.

3.3. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  £454k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Acquisition of Units at Springhead Park: £235k favourable variance – as part of the 
council’s continuing Property Acquisition Programme, the purchase of several industrial 
units at Springhead Park was completed in February 2019.  Due to the timing of this 
acquisition compared to budget-setting arrangements, this was not able to be reflected 
in the 2019/20 original budget and therefore there is now a current year favourable 
variance of £235k to report.  

3.3.2. Council-owned Garages: £160k favourable variance – within the council’s Balancing 
the Budget initiatives identified in November 2018, a review of council-owned garages 
and clarification of the legal position has resulted in a reallocation of income and 
expenditure between the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and General Fund. It has 
been determined that where such garages or parking spaces are being used by non-
council tenants, the associated income and expenditure should be appropriated to the 
General Fund, rather than the HRA as has traditionally been the case. The resultant 
effect is a projected net benefit to the General Fund of £160k in 2019/20 with £180k 
anticipated in future years.

Page 27



4

3.3.3. Acquisition of site at 35-36 New Road, Gravesend: £56k favourable variance – as 
part of the same strategy described in paragraph 3.3.1., the council acquired in January 
2019 the site at 35-36 New Road, Gravesend, currently tenanted by Bon Marche. This 
was also not completed in time to be reflected in the 2019/20 original budget and 
therefore there is now additional income of £56k to report. 

Bon Marche went into administration during October 2019.  At the time of writing this 
report, Bon Marche continues to trade whilst the business is being marketed, and it is 
the current view of the appointed Administrator that there will be interest to take on the 
business.  The status of the business will be monitored to assess any impact on the 
council.

3.3.4. Member Allowances: £13k favourable variance – following the local elections in May 
2019 a revised cabinet and committee structure has been established by the new 
administration. The result of this in terms of allowances payable is a reduction of £13k 
compared to the original budget.

3.3.5. Safer Stronger Communities: Neutral variance – the council has successfully 
secured grant funding of around £30k from the Police and Crime Commissioner to 
support Community Safety Unit (CSU) activity that will assist with intelligence and 
evidence gathering, particularly to help reduce organised crime, offending related to 
drug supply and environmental crime such as fly-tipping.  Most of the funding awarded 
has been used to purchase three state-of-the-art rapid deployment CCTV cameras, 
which also have Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) capacity.  These will be 
deployed across the Borough for short periods of time as an additional tool to support 
multi-agency/joint operations.  A small amount of funding has also been set aside as a 
contingency amount to enable the CSU to respond to any emerging priorities that 
become known during the course of the year.

3.3.6. CCTV – Riverside Leisure Area: neutral variance – a review of CCTV arrangements 
across the borough identified the need for additional coverage at the Riverside Leisure 
Area. Resultantly, reserve funding of £16k from the Corporate Priorities Reserve has 
been made available to support the installation of new cameras.

3.3.7. Borough Market: £10k adverse variance – the latest income projections for the market 
show an anticipated year-end deficit of £17k, attributable to continuing unit vacancies in 
particular with the unexpected recent departures of stall-holders due to personal 
circumstances. Compensating underspends on staffing and running expense budgets of 
£7k have reduced the overall projected variance to £10k for the year.

3.4 CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.4.1 Making Tax Digital: neutral variance – as the result of an HMRC directive requiring 
organisations to report VAT and Corporation Tax returns using automated internet 
submissions, £14k of reserve funding has been made available to support this 
workstream. This budget has financed the purchase and implementation of a new Civica 
module to facilitate digital transfers between the council and HMRC.
 

3.4.2 Income Cash Management System: neutral variance – the council’s Income Cash 
Management system enables a range of critical functions to be delivered, such as the 
receipting of income payments across all departments, and facilitates the bank 
reconciliation process. In order to ensure the most recent version is used and remains 
supported by the provider, Capita, it is now necessary to upgrade to the current version 
of software. Reserve funding of £11k has been made available to finance this upgrade 
and the support necessary from Capita to enable this to take place.

Page 28



5

3.4.3 Corporate Debt Pilot System: neutral variance – funding from the Corporate Priorities 
Reserve of £8k has been made available to support a pilot project for the central 
collation, analysis and management of debt across the council. The project involves 
utilising specialist software to draw account balance data from different council systems, 
carry out matching activity and guide officers in determining specific courses of action 
for individuals owing multiple amounts to the council.

3.5     HOUSING & OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE –  £30k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.5.1 Controlled Parking Zone Review: £30k favourable variance – the Service Review 
process identified a need to update some aspects of the existing Controlled Parking 
Zones. Implementation of the new arrangements went live in May 2019; as result of 
moving away from five-year permits to a system of annual permit renewal, a 
favourable variance has been realised in 2019/20 of £30k. 

3.5.2 Parking equipment: neutral variance – funding of £33k has been transferred from 
the Service Review Reserve in order finance the purchase of new equipment and 
signage to enable the operation of new parking schemes within the town centre. 

3.6 PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT –  NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.6.1 There are no significant variances to report.

Page 29



6

3.7 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2018/19 – £185k

3.7.1 The following items from 2018/19 have been approved for carry forward to 2019/20 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team: 

Summary of General Fund Revenue 2018/19 year-end carry forward requests

Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2019/20

Communities Regeneration £980 Maintenance works are required on the town pier access system, this 
budget is required to offset the cost of this work.

Communities Younger Persons Fund £1,810 Unspent budget to be rolled forward to to pay for grant funded projects 
already identified in 2019/20.

Communities Older Persons Fund £2,050 To be rolled forward to pay for various projects which have already been 
identified.  These include a TV for Portreeve Resident's Association and 
Defribrillator's at Meopham Parish Council, Istead Rise Memorial Hall and 
Vigo Village Hall.

Communities Property Services £5,000 The final 2018/19 service charge for St John's House has not yet been 
received.  As the building was empty for a few months this charge may 
exceed the original estimate.  As such this budget carry forward is being 
requested to cover that eventuality as a one off event.

Communities Community 
Engagement 

£7,610 Unspent MOD grant to be rolled forward.  The MOD have agreed that this 
money can be carried forward and used against an appropriate project 
next year.

Communities Woodville Halls £10,000 Equipment for market café.  Spotlites are interested in taking on a unit in 
the market to provide the café there. This approach will give the market a 
much needed offer and ensure there is the provision needed.  Spotlites 
will be able to use staff & stock across both sites making this a cost-
effective second business for them. To do this, there will be a need to 
purchase equipment including fridges, hot warmers, tea/coffee machine.  
In the very unlikely event the offer did not work, the equipment would 
be reused in the main Spotlites kitchen.                                            

Communities Community 
Engagement 

£10,590 To support a range of initiatives for next year – community cohesion, 
tackling hate crime, building footfall in the town etc. This will be linked to 
ongoing work and the Altogether Stronger project that the council has 
just received approval for.

Communities Woodville Halls £22,000 The auditorium floor needs repairing, sanding and varnishing each year. 
However, as this has not been undertaken for a number of years, 
replacement of the floor is now required.                                   

Communities Woodville Halls £23,000 This budget will pay for the introduction of a second till at Spotlites and a 
redesign of the counter to accommodate this. This will enable the team 
to better serve customers, particularly during busy times.                 

Communities Woodville Halls £70,000 The current dimmer rack responsible for the auditorium lighting needs to 
be replaced; however, a survey is required to ascertain whether this is 
the most appropriate route or whether a change to the overall lighting 
installation is more appropriate / cost effective. Ring-fencing the balance 
of savings (£70k) is expected to cover the majority of the cost of this 
work. 

Corporate Services Corporate 
Performance

£1,520 The Corporate Plan as a project operates over a rolling four year basis. In 
years 2 and 3 virtually no monies are committed. However, year 4 
(2018/19) has a sizeable portion spent as we carry out preparatory work 
on the new plan and year 1 (2019/20) will likely see all monies spent.  The 
bulk of the budget will be committed to the various communication and 
promotional aspects of the new Corporate Plan; imagery, printing etc. 

Environment and 
Operations

Horticulture £3,450 Some of the Playground budget was set aside to fund the cost of the 
replacement parts at Woodlands Park Play Area.  The replacement head 
unit was not received by 31/03/19 due to a delay with the delivery. The 
budget now needs to be used to offset this cost in 2019/20.  

Environment and 
Operations

Car Parking £26,660 The underspend achieved in 2018/19 is needed to supply & install CPZ 
Parking Signs in 2019/20.

Total carry-forward requests £184,670

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2018/19

Page 30



7

3.8 INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – £75k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

3.8.1 Interest & Investment Income: £75k favourable variance – when setting the 
investment income budget for the Multi Asset Funds, a prudent view of a 3% return 
was assumed given that at that time, the investment had only been held for 
approximately nine months.  However, there are currently dividend returns of around 
4% being experienced from the Multi Asset Funds.

3.8.2 When setting the investment income budget for Property Funds, whilst the 
investments had been held since 2016, a prudent view was taken that returns would 
be around 3% given the uncertain economic conditions surrounding Brexit.  Whilst 
officers have seen a small decrease in the Net Asset Value of the council’s 
investment as a result of these uncertainties, dividend returns are holding at around 
4%.

3.8.3 The combined effect of the above are favourable variances of £45k and £30k 
respectively, thus giving an overall projected benefit of £75k for 2019/20.

3.9 FUNDING STREAMS – £194k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.9.1 Government Grant Funding – Section 31 grants – see Business Rates income 
section below.

3.9.2 Transfers to/(from) reserves & Transactions below the line: net neutral variance 
– under accounting arrangements the corresponding entries relating to reserve-
funded expenditure within services (the drawdown from the reserve and the transfer 
into the specific service) are shown here. The total of £124k relates to projected 
reserve funded items as described within the Communities, Corporate Services, and 
Housing and Operations Directorate sections.

3.9.3 Business Rates Income: £194k favourable variance – the latest forecast for 
2019/20 business rates income takes into account the projected benefits resulting 
from membership of the Kent Business Rates Pool of £18k. Additionally, the 
projection for Section 31 grants received to compensate the council for various 
business rate reliefs granted (within the Government Grant Funding section) has also 
been updated, giving a further MTFP benefit of £69k.

3.9.4 Following the Council’s membership of the Kent Business Rates Pilot scheme in 
2018/19, subsequent year-end reconciliations of data across the region have been 
undertaken to finalise the overall position.. The resultant effect is a net further benefit 
to the Council of £107k relating to the Financial Sustainability and Housing Growth 
Funds.

3.9.5 Therefore the total variation for this section is a combination of the £18k Kent Pool 
benefit, £69k additional S31 Grant Funding and £107k additional Kent Pilot 2018/19 
monies – an overall favourable variance to the MTFP of £194k in 2019/20.

Page 31



8

3.10 Other Variances and Risks not reflected in the Current Budget

3.10.1 Staffing Budgets – the General Fund staffing budget for 2019/20 incorporates a 
vacancy allowance of £350k for the year. It is anticipated that this will occur 
throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within day-to-day 
business activities as well as posts being held vacant pending the re-design of 
services. For the first half of the financial year, actual staffing spend was £96k lower 
than budgeted.

3.10.2 Fees and Charges (General) – Income received from fees and charges supports the 
annual budget. Monitoring to the end of September indicates that income streams are 
generally performing well against budget; monitoring will continue during the year 
with any known variances reported through budget monitoring reports.

3.10.3 Homelessness – monitoring to the end of September indicates that the service is 
currently operating within the budget for the year, after all government funding 
received by the council for this purpose has been applied.  Whilst demand for the 
service has seen an increase in the second quarter of the year, the number of 
households living in temporary accommodation continued to decrease during the 
quarter, down to 80 at the end of September 2019.  

3.10.4 During the first six months of 2019/20 there has been total actual and committed 
expenditure of £268k on temporary accommodation placements in the private sector, 
an average of £44.6k per calendar month. However, once compensating Housing 
Benefit receipts are taken into consideration, the net expenditure for this period is 
around £174k.  Targeted action is being taken by the Housing Options Team to 
reduce temporary accommodation costs through reducing reliance on private nightly 
paid temporary accommodation.

3.11 Working Balances and Reserves

3.11.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect 
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2018/19 9,287,850 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 611,150 
Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund (742,500)
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2018/19) 568,330 
Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2019) 
including Minimum GF Working Balance 9,724,830 
Less: Minimum GF balance (1,250,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (4,000,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2019) 4,474,830 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

Page 32



9

3.11.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Forecast Forecast Forecast
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2019 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 420 50 470 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,377 (608) 300 1,069 

 Spend to Save Reserve 157 3 160 
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,326 (75) 356 1,607 
Corporate Priorities Reserve 310 (30) 280 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 99 12 111 

 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) 
Reserve 

50 (25) 25 
Elections Reserve 172 (120) 52 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 666 (166) 500 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 305 75 380 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 414 (435) 105 84 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 780 232 1,012 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 478 (235) 220 463 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150 150 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 170 57 227 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 500 
Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 700 
St George's Income Protection Reserve 422 422 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 424 59 483 
 Service Review Reserve 247 (83) 164 
 Playgrounds Reserve 167 (100) 67 
Decriminalisation Reserve 85 (100) 100 85 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 9,419 (1,977) 1,569 9,011 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 1,819 (348) 1,471 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 11,238 (2,325) 1,569 10,482 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

3.11.3 Significant or new approved use of reserves include:

3.11.4 Corporate Priorities Reserve – £16k CCTV (Communities), £8k Corporate Debt 
Pilot System (Corporate Services), £2k Safer Place Officers’ equipment 
(Communities).

3.11.5 Service Review Reserve – £33k Parking equipment (Environment & Operations).

3.11.6 Revenue Grants not yet applied – £14k Making Tax Digital, £11k Income Cash 
Management System (both Corporate Services). 

Page 33



10

3.12 Medium Term Financial Planning

3.13 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government 
grants and energy prices, together with building in all known variances to the Council’s 
budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The latest version of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan is attached to this report at Appendix Two.

Local Government Finance

3.14 There continues to be little clarity on the long-term future of local government funding 
post 2020/21.  On 4 September 2019, the 2019 Spending Round was announced 
providing an outline of the Government’s plans for allocating resources to local authorities 
for 2020/21. This comprised of a single-year arrangement, pending the outcomes of the 
Fair Funding Review which is now scheduled to take place during 2020/21.  This will be 
conducted alongside a full Spending Review which is intended to enable a multi-year 
settlement to be provided to local government. 

3.15 Linked to this, a technical consultation has been published on the Local Government 
Finance Settlement for 2020/21.  The consultation document sets outs government’s 
intentions for the 2020/21 finance settlement to include:

 The removal of negative RSG (currently budgeted at £243,710 within the MTFP);

 That New Homes Bonus will be paid for in 2020/21 under the current scheme 
arrangements, subject to government retaining the right to adjust the baseline 
threshold (currently 0.4%);

 That the existing mechanism for Business Rates will continue into 2020/21; 

 A proposed Core Council Tax referendum principle for 2020/21 of 2% (with an 
additional 2% adult social care precept applicable to authorities with social care 
responsibilities).

3.16 It is expected that government will publish the Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement in December 2019.

Borrowing – Public Works Loan Board

3.17 On 9 October 2019, HM Treasury announced that it would increase the interest rates on 
all new loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) by 100 basis points (one 
percentage point) on top of usual lending terms.  This appears to be in response to a 
substantial increase in the use of PWLB by local authorities over recent months, given the 
cost of borrowing had fallen to record lows.  This action is likely to make the PWLB the 
lender of last resort and require the Council to identify alternative sources.  

3.18 Shorter term funding, up to five years, is likely to be available from some local authorities 
and banks but securing longer term funding could prove difficult.  Borrowing from the 
market longer term requires additional time both for planning and administration, and 
even then it might not be possible to find a lender that matches the specific requirements, 
forcing the Council to take on more expensive debt.  

3.19 As a result, the cost of borrowing for capital purposes will significantly rise, payback 
periods will lengthen and in some cases scheme affordability could be jeopardised.  It will 
be a case of waiting to see how the market reacts to this sudden announcement and what 
levels are achievable going forward.

Page 34



11

Brexit 

3.20 As the time of preparing this report, the council has received around £340k of funding 
from Central Government in order to assist with Brexit preparations. One of the biggest 
risks identified in the council’s Brexit contingency plans is the impact of potential traffic 
congestion in Kent on the delivery of services.

3.21 IT Services have been working with managers to review service provision arrangements 
in the event of significant disruption looking at where additional investment can improve 
resilience. This includes greater use of laptops and docking stations, enhancement of 
communications equipment for meeting and conferencing facilities and greater server and 
storage resilience.

3.22 The total estimated cost of these measures, combined with the existing roll-out of Surface 
Pro devices purchased in preparation for the original Brexit date in March, is anticipated 
to be around £182k and will be met from the funding from the Central Government.  The 
balance of funding is being retained to enable the council to respond to service delivery 
pressures that may arise after the point at which the United Kingdom exits the European 
Union.

Page 35



12

4. GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The following table details the position of General Fund Capital Programme as at the 
end of Quarter Two.  This includes the revised original budget for 2019/20, taking into 
consideration adjustments for carried forward items as approved by the Section151 
Officer and the Council’s Management Team.

Scheme

2019/20 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/Fwd              

£

2019/20 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2019/20 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2019/20 
Actual 

Expenditure 
Qtr 2                  

£

Outstanding 
Balance               

£
Essential Repairs to Buildings 465,400 0 465,400 1,680 (463,720)
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 21,580 0 21,580 6,750 (14,830)
Parrock St Car Park - resurfacing 0 150,000 150,000 0 (150,000)
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 535,000 52,870 587,870 252,550 (335,320)
Gatekeeper Replacement 50,000 0 50,000 0 (50,000)
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 100,000 0 100,000 0 (100,000)
Waste & Horticulture back office system 192,950 0 192,950 80,460 (112,490)
Replacement Playground Programme 185,300 0 185,300 2,770 (182,530)
IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 40,000 0 40,000 0 (40,000)
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 (37,100) 1,362,900 5,160 (1,357,740)
Property Acquisition Programme 2,328,600 958,380 3,286,980 1,730 (3,285,250)
Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 0 3,658,810 0 (3,658,810)
Land at Dering Way 4,735,000 0 4,735,000 3,360 (4,731,640)
Heritage Quarter - St George's Centre 5,461,640 2,810,370 8,272,010 607,860 (7,664,150)
Cascades Replacement Flumes 0 100,000 100,000 0 (100,000)
Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches 50,000 0 50,000 50,000 0
Heritage Assets 328,500 0 328,500 8,830 (319,670)
Back up Generator 75,000 0 75,000 0 (75,000)
Envelope Filling Equipment 20,000 0 20,000 0 (20,000)
Parking Machines 251,200 0 251,200 0 (251,200)

19,898,980 4,034,520 23,933,500 1,021,150 (22,912,350)

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2019//20

 Essential Repairs to Buildings – there are various work streams currently underway, 
including:
- Resurfacing of the accessway to Brookvale Depot;
- The replacement of water heating plant to Kings Farm changing rooms, including 

cost and energy saving measures;
- Annual window servicing and follow-up repairs to windows at the Civic Centre;
- Rebuilding of boundary wall at St Peter & St Paul’s Church which is scheduled to 

take place later in the financial year.

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements – the new cemetery management software is 
currently being implemented.

 Parrock Street Carpark resurfacing – following a meeting with representatives from 
Kent County Council Highways, officers are currently awaiting a quotation for the works 
from a Kent County Council contractor.

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – fourteen new vans relating to the Housing Repairs 
service were delivered during the summer of 2019, with a further six vans due at the end 
of October 2019.  Officers are continually reviewing the fleet replacement plan to assess 
the timescales for further purchases, and an order has recently placed for two vans 
relating to the Cemeteries and Street Cleansing services, with anticipated delivery 
during November 2019. 

Page 36



13

 Gatekeeper Replacement – a number of options are currently being considered to 
deliver this option identified as part of the Service Review process.  

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – a review is currently taking place considering 
blocks of flats to determine the number of bins required before any orders are placed.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – the first stage implementing information 
systems for bin deliveries, domestic, and garden waste has been completed. The 
second stage of implementation, focusing on trade waste, is commencing in October 
2019.

 Replacement Playground Programme – the installation of new play equipment at the 
sites in Central Avenue, Durndale Lane and Waterton Avenue is starting in October 
2019.  It is intended that these works will be completed by April 2020.

 IT Equipment air conditioning unit – a way forward has now been agreed on the 
replacement of the server room air conditioning unit and Property Services have 
obtained quotes for the work, on behalf of IT Services.

 Brookvale Office Accommodation – demolition works in respect of structures at the 
Brookvale Depot have been completed.  External consultants are currently undertaking 
a feasibility study for the development and their report is awaited. 

 Property Acquisition Programme – there has been no further activity under this 
programme in the second quarter of the year.  The council continues to be pro-active in 
identifying suitable acquisition opportunities to add to its commercial property portfolio.  

 Land Acquisition Programme – there has been no further activity under this 
programme in the second quarter of the year.  The council continues to maintain an 
overview of strategic land sites in the borough so that, as sites come to the market, their 
acquisition can be considered as a means of delivering development and revenue 
generating opportunities for the council and the wider borough in the future.

 Land at Dering Way - The scheme is currently on hold pending the outcome of a wider 
master planning exercise for the various landholdings under the ownership of the council 
in the Denton area.  This master planning exercise will seek to consider complementary 
uses of the adjacent land holdings to ensure that development in that area maximises 
benefits to the council and to the wider community, taking advantage of opportunities to 
improve access to and provision of services, green space and high quality housing.

 Heritage Quarter (St George’s Centre) – work is continuing on the re-enlivenment of 
the mall areas of St Georges with new paving laid, removal of some of the non-structural 
canopies and improvement to the two mall entrance malls of the Centre.  The overall 
programme of works is expected to be completed in Quarter Three.

 Cascades Replacement Flumes – an updated survey of condition has been received 
from the original manufacturer, as well as programme of works and associated options 
to internal and external flume areas.  This has now been discussed with GCLL, with 
works due to take place end December / early January. Works are now estimated to 
cost around £60k, funded from a combination of S106 monies and existing Council 
budgets.

 Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches – the Gravesend Rugby Football Club site was 
highlighted within the Gravesham 2016 Playing Pitch Strategy as strategically important 
to the local area but in need of refurbishment.  Gravesham Sports Trust were successful 

Page 37



14

in raising the additional external funding required, and works to complete replacement 
carpet works on site have now been completed. 

 Heritage Assets – St Andrews Arts Centre – a river wall specification is being prepared 
for the tendering process which will complete in early 2020. Site works have been 
deferred to 2020/21 as they need to be carried out in warmer months, due to the 
materials being used. Further works are being evaluated at Gravesend Cemetery, the 
Blockhouse and New Tavern Fort.

 Back-up Generator – tender documents to procure a back-up generator have been 
prepared.  The project manager is currently making arrangements for the tender to be 
issued.

 Envelope Filling Equipment – due to an increasing number of breakdowns occurring 
with the current machine, the purchase of new equipment will be made in Quarter Three 
of this financial year.

 Parking Machines –the Parking Team continue to explore the most suitable options for 
the council in terms of parking equipment, whilst taking in to account local need and 
corporate objectives. Any new equipment purchased will be in operation over the next 
six to eight years, and therefore it is essential that the team ensure the new equipment 
is flexible enough to accommodate future changes if required.    

4.2 Capital Resources

4.2.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital 
projects in the future:

General Fund Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2019                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2019/20                           

£           

Anticipated 
Use of 

Funding 
2019/20                                                          

£       

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2020           
£

Capital Receipts (988,020) (213,340) 407,480 (793,880)
S106 Capital Contributions (531,060) (50,000) 0 (581,060)
Capital Grants unapplied (330,290) 0 273,250 (57,040)
Total Capital Resources (1,849,370) (263,340) 680,730 (1,431,980)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2019/20

Capital Grants Unapplied

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2019                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2019/20                           

£           

Use of 
Funding 
2019/20              

£

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2020              
£

Transport Quarter Stage 3 (179,160) 0 0 (179,160)
Localised Council Tax Support (89,220) 0 0 (89,220)
Local Enterprise Partnership Funding (6,910) 0 6,910 0
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (330,290) 0 6,910 (323,380)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2019/20

Page 38



4.2.2 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions General 
Fund          

£
HRA               

£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2019/20                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,590) 0 0 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (67,000) 0 0 (67,000)
Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000, £50,000 Cascades 
Leisure Contribution.

Whitehill Road   0 0 (1,000) (1,000) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 0 (150,000)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (259,460) (259,460)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Dover Road - Open space (50,000) (50,000)

For use by Gravesend Council leisure for Springhead Recreation Ground pitch 
improvements at Dover Road Development,  Includes levelling works to make 
'pitch' 2  more usable to accommodate junior markings and potential 5V5 pitch.

Total S106 Contributions (581,050) 0 (81,000) (662,050)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2019/20

P
age 39



5. TREASURY MANAGEMENT

5.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which sets out the principles and 
guidelines to be followed in borrowing and investment operations undertaken by Local 
Authorities.  On 26 February Full Council approved the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2019-20, based on the Code.  The authority’s Annual Investment Strategy 
is incorporated in the TMSS and outlines the authority’s investment priorities as being:

 Security of Capital

 Liquidity

 Yield

5.2 An update on Treasury Management performance is provided to Members through 
budget monitoring reports, with more detailed reporting of treasury management activity 
to the Finance & Audit Committee every six months. A full list of internally managed 
investments held by the Council at 30 September 2019 can be found at Appendix Three 
of this report.

5.3 The Council currently pursues a variety of investment opportunities within its Treasury 
Management strategy: 
a) Around £10m is invested in Externally Managed Property Funds generating returns 

in the region of 3-5% 
b) A further £10m is invested in three Multi-Asset funds generating returns of around 3-

4%.
c) Remaining cash balances are generally invested in short-term deposits and 

overnight money market funds currently generating returns of around 0.62%.
d) A total of £19.3m has been expended purchasing Investment Properties (including 

acquisitions and external professional support) from which initial yields have typically 
been upwards of 6%.

5.4 The following summary of Key economic developments within this reporting period has 
been provided by Link Asset Services, the authority’s Treasury Management.

5.5 UK – After only tepid annual economic growth of 1.4% in 2018, growth in quarter 1 
was unexpectedly strong at 0.5%.  However, this was boosted by stock building ahead 
of the original March Brexit deadline so quarter 2 was expected to be slightly negative 
and duly came in at -0.2% q/q, +1.3% y/y.

5.6 The Monetary Policy Committee raised Bank Rate from 0.5% to 0.75% in August 2018, 
but have abstained from any further increases since then.  We are unlikely to see any 
further action from the MPC until the uncertainties over Brexit clear.  If there were a no 
deal exit, it is likely that Bank Rate would be cut in order to support growth.  
Nevertheless, the MPC does have concerns over the trend in wage inflation which 
peaked at a new post financial crisis high of 3.9% in June before edging back to 3.8% in 
July, (excluding bonuses).  Growth in employment fell to only 31,000 in the three months 
to July, well below the 2018 average, while the unemployment rate remained at 3.8 
percent, its lowest rate since 1975.

Page 40



17

5.7 CPI inflation fell to 1.7% in August and is likely to remain close to 2% over the next two 
years.  If there was a no deal Brexit though, it could rise towards 4%, primarily as a 
result of imported inflation on the back of a weakening pound.

5.8 The rise in wage inflation and fall in CPI inflation is good news for consumers as their 
spending power is improving in this scenario as the difference between the two figures is 
now around 2.1%, i.e. a real terms increase.  Given the UK economy is very much 
services sector driven, an increase in household spending power is likely to feed through 
into providing some support to the overall rate of economic growth in the coming 
months.

5.9 USA.  President Trump’s massive easing of fiscal policy in 2018 fuelled a (temporary) 
boost in consumption in 2018 which generated an upturn in the rate of growth to 2.9% 
for 2018, just below his target of 3%.  Growth in quarter 1 of 2019 was a strong 3.1% but 
growth fell back to 2.0% in quarter 2.  The strong growth in employment numbers during 
2018 has reversed into a falling trend during 2019, indicating that the economy is 
cooling, while inflationary pressures are also weakening. After the Fed increased rates 
by 0.25% in December 2018 to between 2.25% and 2.50%, it has taken decisive action 
to reverse monetary policy by cutting rates by 0.25% in each of July and September in 
order to counter the downturn in the outlook for US and world growth. There are 
expectations that it could cut again in December.

5.10 EUROZONE.  The annual rate of growth for 2018 was 1.8% but is expected to fall to 
possibly around half that rate in 2019.  The European Central Bank (ECB) ended its 
programme of quantitative easing purchases of debt in December 2018, which meant 
that the central banks in the US, UK and EU had all ended the phase of post financial 
crisis expansion of liquidity supporting world financial markets by purchases of debt.  
However, the downturn in EZ growth in the second half of 2018 and into 2019, together 
with inflation falling well under the upper limit of its target range of 0 to 2%, (but it aims to 
keep it near to 2%), has prompted the ECB to take new measures to stimulate growth.  
At its March meeting it said that it expected to leave interest rates at their present levels 
“at least through the end of 2019”, but that was of little help to boosting growth in the 
near term.  Consequently, it announced further stimulus which provides banks with 
cheap borrowing every three months from September 2019 until March 2021.  However, 
since then, the downturn in EZ and world growth has gathered momentum so at its 
meeting on 12 September, it cut its deposit rate further into negative territory, from -0.4% 
to -0.5% and announced a resumption of quantitative easing purchases of debt.  It also 
increased the maturity of the third round of TLTROs from two to three years.  However, it 
is doubtful whether this loosening of monetary policy will have much impact on growth 
and unsurprisingly, the ECB stated that governments will need to help stimulate growth 
by fiscal policy.

The background papers to this report are held within the Accountancy Section

Page 41



18

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 
September against the original budget set for the 2019/20 financial year, and 
illustrate how this affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by 
the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 42

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


19

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



BMR Q2 2019-20 Appendix 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 10,948,640 10,817,890 10,846,850 11,113,170 11,400,130 11,686,940 11,981,010 12,282,390 12,591,280 12,953,620 12,951,630 

Vacancy allowance (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Salaries (Net) 10,598,640 10,467,890 10,496,850 10,763,170 11,050,130 11,336,940 11,631,010 11,932,390 12,241,280 12,603,620 12,601,630 

Temporary Staff 392,840 392,840 402,660 412,730 423,060 433,620 444,460 455,570 466,940 478,620 478,620 

Wages 221,870 221,870 104,410 107,010 109,680 232,430 115,250 118,140 121,090 124,120 124,120 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 2,571,420 2,577,440 2,596,390 2,656,210 2,727,920 2,796,110 2,866,070 2,937,990 3,011,390 3,098,300 3,098,300 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,510,860 1,510,610 1,494,970 1,512,540 1,491,090 1,492,140 1,493,220 1,494,330 1,495,470 1,495,470 1,495,470 

Running Expenses 10,044,700 11,456,560 10,460,310 10,618,410 10,779,190 11,104,440 11,379,470 11,356,960 11,447,740 11,530,510 11,572,140 

Capital Financing 1,623,430 1,623,430 1,075,820 959,250 935,360 915,920 897,720 868,690 741,810 816,720 816,720 

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (95,790) (95,790) (140,920) (52,120) 14,870 64,790 101,450 127,810 146,230 158,570 158,570 

Recharges to Other Accounts (3,014,100) (2,998,820) (3,022,410) (3,056,540) (3,094,220) (3,141,030) (3,181,940) (3,226,280) (3,262,570) (3,304,430) (3,304,430)

Other Government Grants (2,236,120) (2,966,890) (2,012,690) (2,037,440) (2,062,690) (2,088,440) (2,114,720) (2,139,640) (2,168,870) (2,196,750) (2,196,750)

Investment Income (843,720) (918,720) (453,530) (364,420) (486,350) (463,400) (434,620) (175,690) --   --   --   

Fees & Charges (7,433,120) (7,699,490) (7,175,280) (7,186,970) (7,181,360) (7,184,120) (7,196,830) (7,192,910) (7,135,010) (7,141,620) (7,141,620)

Rental Income (3,713,090) (4,254,000) (4,451,330) (4,594,150) (4,552,180) (4,580,530) (4,542,170) (4,666,510) (4,711,440) (4,757,710) (4,803,110)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 1,518,300 1,518,300 1,228,000 685,000 605,000 420,000 305,000 305,000 505,000 505,000 505,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves (622,740) (755,560) (422,390) 263,520 434,020 495,060 659,040 813,440 537,520 537,710 537,710 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 611,150 611,150 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 

Parish Precepts 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 11,474,270 11,030,560 11,067,600 11,572,940 12,080,260 12,720,670 13,309,150 13,896,030 14,323,320 14,834,870 14,829,110 

Business Rates Income (3,085,050) (3,209,670) (2,698,680) (2,752,650) (2,807,700) (2,863,850) (2,921,130) (2,979,560) (3,039,150) (3,099,940) (3,099,940)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

Less: Passported Parish Grant (LSCT) --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

New Homes Bonus (611,150) (611,150) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

Council Tax Income (6,892,290) (6,892,290) (7,072,230) (7,256,830) (7,446,490) (7,640,960) (7,840,630) (8,045,590) (8,255,910) (8,471,670) (8,692,940)

Parish Precepts (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund 196,460 196,460 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £4m (742,500) (742,500) (653,660) (920,430) (1,183,040) (1,572,830) (1,904,360) (1,522,510) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

--   (568,330) 0 --   --   --   --   705,340 1,838,230 2,073,230 1,846,200 

--   --   0 --   --   --   --   705,340 1,132,890 235,000 (227,030)

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2026-27

Projected 

2019-20

Original 

2019-20

Projected 

2024-25

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2023-24

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Projected 

2028-29

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2021-22

Projected 

2020-21

Projected 

2027-28

P
age 45



BMR Q2 2019-20 Appendix 2

2019-20      

Original

2019-20      

Projected

2020-21      

Original

2021-22      

Original

2022-23      

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

2027-28      

Original

2027-28      

Original

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £1.25m Min) 8,037,850 8,037,850 8,474,830 8,368,170 7,994,740 7,358,700 6,332,870 4,975,510 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000

New Homes Bonus 611,150 611,150 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF (742,500) (742,500) (653,660) (920,430) (1,183,040) (1,572,830) (1,904,360) (1,522,510) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

Transfer from Balances to equalise Council Tax - - - - - - - - - - -

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 7,906,500 7,906,500 8,368,170 7,994,740 7,358,700 6,332,870 4,975,510 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget - 568,330 (0) - - - - (705,340) (1,838,230) (2,073,230) (1,846,200)

GF Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £1.25m Min) 7,906,500 8,474,830 8,368,170 7,994,740 7,358,700 6,332,870 4,975,510 3,294,660 1,456,430 (616,800) (2,463,000)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Spend to Save Reserve (incl. Digital Team) 157,460 159,560 161,660 163,760 165,860 167,960 170,060 172,160 174,260 176,360 178,460

Corporate Priorities Reserve 309,500 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400

Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,376,780 1,068,480 695,480 615,480 615,480 600,480 700,480 800,480 900,480 1,000,480 1,100,480

Planning Policy Reserve 420,060 470,060 520,060 570,060 620,060 670,060 720,060 770,060 820,060 870,060 920,060

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,326,020 1,607,320 1,596,220 1,880,120 2,164,020 2,507,920 2,851,820 3,195,720 3,539,620 3,883,520 4,227,420

Decriminalisation (General) 84,640 84,640 184,640 284,640 384,640 484,640 584,640 684,640 784,640 884,640 984,640

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 98,480 110,980 99,480 111,980 124,480 107,980 120,480 132,980 121,480 109,980 98,480

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme Reserve 50,000 25,000 - - - - - - - - -

Elections Reserve 171,750 51,750 81,750 111,750 141,750 51,750 81,750 111,750 141,750 171,750 201,750

IT Infrastructure Reserve 304,730 379,730 284,730 239,730 314,730 349,730 294,730 369,730 404,730 439,730 474,730

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 414,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 780,360 1,011,710 1,243,060 1,474,410 1,698,760 1,923,110 2,147,460 2,368,810 2,593,160 2,817,510 3,041,860

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 665,860 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Growth Fund Reserve 478,430 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000

Service Review Reserve 246,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780

Playgrounds Reserve 166,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660

Woodville Repairs Reserve 170,320 227,570 284,820 342,070 399,320 456,570 513,820 571,070 628,320 685,570 742,820

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 424,410 483,590 506,100 527,520 526,440 530,400 524,340 542,680 549,100 555,710 562,320

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

St George's Centre Income Protection Reserve 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240

Housing & Commerical Growth Fund Reserve 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 17,325,260 17,485,650 17,356,600 17,646,690 17,844,670 17,513,900 17,015,580 16,345,170 15,444,460 14,308,940 13,400,450

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year (i.e. 31 March)                                       

P
age 46



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 857 12/10/18 11/10/19 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 

Limited
Maturity 1.0400% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 858 25/10/18 25/10/19 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 
Limited

Maturity 1.0600% -5,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 863 07/11/18 06/11/19 Toronto-Dominion Bank Maturity 1.1600% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 125 05/04/19 04/10/19 Standard Chartered Bank Maturity 1.0000% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 864 15/05/19 15/05/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 864a 15/05/19 15/05/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 865 15/07/19 01/07/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 866 31/07/19 01/07/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -1,000,000.00

Fixed Total 1.1370% -20,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 95 days notice 132 02/08/19 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.0100% -1,000,000.00

Call - 95 days notice Total 0.0100% -1,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 35 days notice 124 05/02/19 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.8500% -5,000,000.00

Call - 35 days notice Total 0.8500% -5,000,000.00

11 Deposit MMF Invesco RR MMF 11/06/18 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.7117% -1,158,974.71

Deposit MMF 250Invesco MMF 01/04/16 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.7117% -2,845,025.29

Deposit MMF Insight Sterling Liquidity Fund 12/07/18 Insight Liquidity Sterling C5 Maturity 0.6588% -2,309,848.44

MMF Total 0.6923% -6,313,848.44

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity 0.0000% -1,862,147.90

Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 Jupiter Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -2,751,575.74

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -4,939,862.54

Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -2,738,803.62

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 0.0000% -1,928,101.80

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -530,923.26

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 0.0000% -5,283,265.67

VNAV Fund Total 0.0000% -20,034,680.53

Deposit Total 0.5993% -52,348,528.97

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -52,348,528.97

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

As At: 30/09/2019

Page 1 of 1Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 17/10/19 09:24

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 11 November 2019

Reporting officer: Melanie Norris, Director (Communities) and Sarah Parfitt, 
Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Annual Review of the Payroll Shared Service

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Cabinet with a copy of the annual review that has been 
conducted in respect of the Payroll Shared Service with Medway Council.

Recommendations:
1. None - this paper is for information purposes only

1. Introduction

1.1 Since April 2017, the council has had in place a service arrangement with 
Medway Council for the provision of Payroll services.  This involved the transfer of 
all Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) staff who were employed within the Payroll 
Service at GBC to Medway Council.

1.2 As per the council’s Working in Partnership Framework (which was adopted by 
Council on 16 April 2019), a formal review of the service arrangement is to be 
undertaken on an annual basis.

2. Annual Review

2.1 The annual review of the Payroll Shared Service arrangement was undertaken in 
September 2019 and reported to the Gravesham Borough Council Management 
Team accordingly.

2.2 A copy of the final review document is attached at appendix two for Member 
perusal.

Page 49 Agenda Item 8



2

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are held by the Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services).  Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in 
the first place, be directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the 
necessary arrangements

Page 50



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The shared service arrangement was established with due regard to the following 
legislation:
1) Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, which allows a local authority to 

place any of its officers, who consent to the arrangement, at the disposal of 
another local authority on such terms as may be agreed between the parties, 
and

2) Section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Authority 
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012, 
which enables a local authority to delegate certain functions to another local 
authority.  

Finance and Value 
for Money 

In respect of the 2018-19 financial year, the payment to Medway Council for the 
provision of Payroll Services was £40,000.

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at this time.  
The annual review and ongoing monitoring that takes place has shown that the 
service is meeting its objectives.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Page 51

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Corporate Plan The delivery of a shared service contributes to objective number three:
Progress - an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong 
governance environment. 

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults’ implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 52



                     

 

 

 

Review of the Payroll Service 
 

 

 

 

  

 

(Service Commenced: April 2017) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Author(s): Melanie Norris, Director (Communities) at Gravesham Borough Council and 
Phil Watts, Chief Finance Officer at Medway Council 

 

Date:   October 2019 

Page 53



Review of the Payroll Shared Service 

October 2019 

  
Page 2 

 

  

In line with all shared service/shared working arrangements, it is necessary to undertake an annual 
review of the arrangement.  The purpose of the review is two-fold; to ensure that the shared service 
is delivering against its agreed objectives and to identify any improvements/changes that need to be 
made to ensure the successful continuation of the arrangement. 

 

The objectives identified for the Payroll service are as follows: 

 Resilience to the service provision; Employee’s, members and casuals (e.g. working on elections) 
paid on a monthly basis on specified date  

 Maintenance of integrated HR system and provision of access and information to support the HR 
function within GBC  

 Provision of Self-service function reducing administrative impact on HR  

 Provision of Pension administration service  

 Provision of Financial reports which integrate with General Ledger  

Page 54



Review of the Payroll Shared Service 

October 2019 

  
Page 3 

 

  

Review Findings 

 

How is the shared service operating? 

1. Has the shared service delivered on the objectives that are set out on page two of the review 
document? 

Yes   No   In part  

 

The payroll service continues to provide greater resilience to that operated by Gravesham 
(GBC) prior to its implementation, when the service was effectively delivered by 0.6FTE 
Payroll Officer with HR staff providing support and often detracting from their own work load.  
Following a restructure of the Payroll Team within Financial Services at Medway Council (MC), 
additional officers have become involved in the day to day running of the Gravesham Payroll, 
with oversight provided by the Pensions and GBC Payroll Team Leader (who was previously 
the Payroll Officer at GBC). 

The GBC monthly payroll for employees, Members, casual staff and, when required, those 
involved in election duties has been prepared by MC Payroll in accordance with the agreed 
schedule and there have been no delays in processing and making payroll payments during 
the year. 

MC has maintained the integrated HR system (SS4U) with appropriate access to information 
granted to the HR and Finance functions within GBC. 

MC has provided a self-service function for GBC Staff in respect of leave booking, submission 
of travel and subsistence claims, overtime claims and maintenance of personal details.  Whilst 
this has reduced the administrative impact on HR, the self-service function would benefit 
from further development. This is being addressed as per comments under section 7 of this 
review document. 

MC has provided a pension administration service to GBC. 

MC has provided financial reports and files to enable automated uploading of payroll 
information to the GBC General Ledger, though opportunities continue to exist to further 
review and enhance how GBC salaries monitoring information is produced. This is being 
addressed as per comments under section 7 of this review document. 

The payment to MC from GBC for provision of the service was as budgeted for 2018-19. 

 
 

2. Have there been any other, unforeseen benefits, as a result of the shared service?  

Yes   No  

 

The service arrangement continues to provide opportunities to develop working relationships 
and is particularly helpful given the shared service arrangement for HR Services between the 
two councils. 

 

 

Page 55



Review of the Payroll Shared Service 

October 2019 

  
Page 4 

 

  

3. Have there been any unforeseen issues or problems resulting from the shared service? 

Yes   No  

 

Issues continue to principally relate to the self-serve functionality within the SS4U system 
rather than the delivery of the payroll service: 

 Bank Holidays are not prepopulated in the system therefore staff are each required to 
book bank holidays on the system.  Medway Council will review this functionality for 
the 2020/21 Leave Year to see if there is a smarter way of resolving this issue.  

 The presentation and reporting of leave information on the system is not particularly 
user-friendly. This is being addressed as per comments under section 7 of this review 
document. 

 During April 2019 there were a number of technical issues with SS4U in respect of 
booking leave and, as a result, a delay in reflecting leave balances to be carried 
forward to 2019/20 on the system.  This issue was resolved in May 2019. 

 
 

4. What has been the financial impact of the shared service on both authorities?  

The cost to Gravesham in 2018/19 was £40,000 (as budgeted), with Medway receiving this 
payment to cover the costs it has incurred. 

 

5. Feedback from officers involved in the shared service: 

Officers within the Payroll Service at Medway are positive about the service arrangement, 
recognising the opportunity to develop skills and work in a broader team environment. 

There have been occasions when forms have not been completed properly on behalf of 
Gravesham and although these are resolved at the time, it is clear that the process can be 
improved as laid out in section 7 and will be addressed. 

 

 

Moving forward with the shared service 

6. Based on the review that has been undertaken will the shared service continue to operate? 

Yes   No  

  

Key areas of focus for the coming year are as follows: 

 Please see details under section 7 which shows a comprehensive list of changes being 
reviewed and brought in over the coming year 

 KPIs 

Page 56



Review of the Payroll Shared Service 

October 2019 

  
Page 5 

 

  

7. If the shared service is to continue to operate, what are the key areas of focus for the coming 
year for both authorities? 

Key areas of focus for the coming year are as follows: 

 The system is moving to a hosted platform and IT support direct from supplier 
rather than in-house IT, target date November 2019. 

 A review of all processes so that reliance on paper can be reduced. Medway are 
looking to procure the Recruitment and Onboarding module which will enable 
more self-service functionality and reduce the volume of paper/forms to be 
completed. This cannot happen until after hosted has been implemented and the 
aim this in place Quarter 1 2020/21. 

 Improving the use of the Dashboard (My View) to include the following: 

1) Entering of sickness data 

2) Management information  

E.g. Budgeting data, vacancy data, costing data 

This will be achieved by changing the current reporting which has proved to be 
limited with a better tool and access to the relevant tables. The aim is for new 
reports to be available by the end of Quarter 1 2020/21 at the latest. 

 The ability to hold structure charts within the system will be available this financial 
year. Once in place this can then be developed to manage vacancies, staff reviews, 
budgets etc. 

 A review as to the advantages of staff having Bank Holidays automatically booked 
will be carried out before 2020/21 leave is ready to be booked. 

 

 

 

Summary of recommendations 

Please list any recommendations that you feel need to be reviewed by the relevant Directors at both 
authorities.  This may include changes to processes or potential supplement increases (if applicable) 
if it is felt that partnership is working well. 

1.  Due to the changes of responsible departments at Medway and Gravesham, a 
need has been identified to introduce quarterly service review meetings and 
these should be established moving forward. 

2.  Implementation of the actions set out at section 7 of this report. 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council

Parking Services 

Enforcement Policy 

Document Control

Responsible Department Parking Services
Author Nick May, Parking Services Manager
Consultation n/a

Revision History

Date Previous Description of Revision
Version

Page 59 Agenda Item 9



Background  

Gravesham Borough Council undertakes on and off street parking enforcement throughout the 
Borough. On Street enforcement is carried out on behalf of Kent County Council under Part 6 of the 
Traffic Management Act 2004. The Regulations made under the Act and the procedures included in 
Statutory and Operational Guidance are confirmed within this policy. 

Enforcement of unpaid penalties is through civil rather than criminal processes. There are 
both statutory and non-statutory processes for the registered keeper to object to a penalty 
being imposed. If all such challenges are rejected by the Council the registered keeper can 
formally appeal to an independent tribunal. These appeals are dealt with by independent 
legally qualified adjudicators through the Traffic Penalty Tribunal (TPT) service. 

Purpose of Enforcement Policy 

The purpose of the Policy is to: 

 Deliver a high quality parking service to all users in a fair and consistent manner. 
 Ensure clarity, consistency and transparency within the Council’s parking enforcement 

processes. 
 Provide staff with clear guidelines on service standards whilst ensuring they can apply 

fairness, discretion and flexibility in the issuing of penalty charge notices or in dealing with 
any subsequent challenges and representations. 

 Supporting effective parking management
 Ensuring that the needs of disabled people, motorcycles, buses, coaches, pedestrians, 

cyclists and local businesses are taken into account.

The policy will apply to: 

 On and off-street parking enforcement (including penalty charge notice issuing criteria). 
 Management of the administration processes following the issue of a penalty charge notice

Parking Enforcement Objectives 

Gravesham Borough Councils Parking Service objectives are to: 

 Improve traffic conditions and road safety thereby making the Borough a more pleasant and 
environmentally safe place to live and visit. 

 Safeguard the needs and requirements of residents, businesses/organisations and shops 
thereby sustaining the Borough’s economic growth. 

 Increase and improve pedestrian and cyclist mobility and safety to ensure that the Borough 
is accessible to all. 

 Support the needs of disabled people to ensure that those with disabilities are able to have 
equal access to the Borough’s facilities. 

 Manage and reconcile the competing demand for kerb space. 

This will be achieved by: 

 Robust on and off street enforcement and issuing Penalty Charge Notices in regard to 
contraventions observed. 

Page 60



 Enforcement of parking regulations fairly, lawfully and without discrimination.
 Management of the Borough Council’s car parks. 
 Management of Residents’ permit parking schemes, Controlled Parking Zones and Permit 

Parking Areas. 
 Monitoring the adequacy of signs and markings and the reporting of deficiencies and 

damage. Ensuring signs and lines adhere to Traffic Signs Regulations and General 
Directions 2016.

 Checking the pay & display machines are in working order and are fit for purpose. 
 Review parking restrictions across the Borough and conduct consultations where changes to 

the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) may be required. 
 Ensure Gravesham’s map based TRO is publically available on our website to ensure 

transparency and openness with the parking restrictions and parking schemes in the 
Borough.

The Parking Service

The Parking Service consists of two teams, front line enforcement which is undertaken by Civil 
Enforcement Officers and the back office processing team: 

 Civil Enforcement Officers (CEO’s)
These officers are the public face of the Council’s Parking Service and therefore the Council 
consider it essential that they present a professional image of the service.  The Council’s 
aim is for parking enforcement to be effective, efficient and fair and, equally important, that it 
is seen to be so.

Civil Enforcement Officers shall issue a penalty charge notice where they believe a parking 
contravention has occurred. They shall have authority to exercise discretion if there is 
significant doubt as to the contravention or where they consider that it would not be possible 
to enforce the penalty charge notice.  As per Traffic Management Act 2004 CEO’s will also 
try to get the driver to move off of a restriction where possible, prior to a PCN being issued.

All Civil Enforcement Officers are ‘in house’ members of staff and trained to the same 
standards, by way of an in-house manual, formal training qualifications and on-going 
monitoring.

 Administration Team (back office staff) 
Officers within the Parking Service have the authority to deal with informal challenges and 
representations which are administered and managed by using a framework developed by 
the South East Parking Managers Groups. 

Recognising that policy cannot cover all conceivable situations, Officers have authority to 
exercise discretion and make the necessary decisions with regard accepting or rejecting 
informal challenges or representations.

The Penalty Charge Notice Process

This section provides an overview of Civil Parking Enforcement from issue of a penalty charge 
notice to closing the case. 

Penalty Charge Notice – Discount Period 

Page 61



If a penalty charge notice is paid within 14 days from the date of issue a discounted amount 
of 50% is accepted in full settlement. 

If a challenge is received from the keeper within 14 days of issue of the penalty charge 
notice the discounted period is frozen pending the Council’s decision. If the challenge is 
rejected the discount period restarts from the date of the notice of rejection. This information 
is included within a rejection notice. 

Where a challenge is received more than 14 days from issue of the penalty charge notice 
the discount period is not frozen and the full amount becomes payable in the event of the 
challenge being rejected.

Driver & Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA) Enquiry 

If no payment has been received within 28 days after the issue of the PCN, irrespective of 
whether the driver/owner has previously challenged the charge, then Parking Services will 
obtain the details of the registered owner/keeper of the vehicle from the Driver Vehicle 
Licensing Agency (DVLA). The registered owner/keeper of the vehicle is the person 
responsible for payment of the charge

Notice to Owner (NtO)

A Notice to Owner (NtO) is sent to the registered owner/keeper upon receipt of these details 
from DVLA.

The purpose of the Notice to Owner is to ensure that the vehicle owner is aware that 
the penalty charge notice remains unpaid and to advise the owner that if neither 
payment is made nor representations submitted a Charge Certificate will be served 
increasing the penalty charge by 50%. It also provides the opportunity for a formal 
representation to be made against the issue of the penalty charge notice and, if 
these are rejected, to the Traffic Penalty Tribunal. 

Formal Representation
 

Within 28 days from the date of the Notice to Owner (NtO) being issued the owner may 
submit a formal representation against the issue of the penalty charge notice. 

If received within the given timescale, the penalty charge notice is put on hold which 
stops any further action being taken until a decision is made. Once a decision has 
been made the appellant will be notified in writing of the outcome. If accepted, the 
penalty charge notice will be cancelled and no further action will be taken. If rejected, 
a formal notice of rejection will be served and the appellant will be given 28 days to 
pay the outstanding balance or submit an appeal to the Traffic Penalty Tribunal.  

Charge Certificate 

If no appeal is submitted to Traffic Penalty Tribunal and the PCN remains unpaid a Charge 
Certificate will be sent.  This informs the vehicle owner that the penalty charge has been 
increased by 50% and that action will be taken to recover the amount due through the 
County Court if it is not paid within 14 days. 

Order of Recovery and Witness Statement 

Page 62



If the penalty charge notice remains unpaid the Council will register the debt with the Traffic 
Enforcement Centre at Northampton County Court who will grant an Order for Recovery.  
This action will increase the charge by £8.00.  The Order for Recovery will be sent to the 
owner and within 21 days the owner may send a Witness Statement to the Traffic 
Enforcement Centre to refute the need to pay the penalty charge. A Witness Statement can 
be made on the following grounds: 

1. The ‘Notice to Owner’ was not received

2. Representations were made to the Council but did not receive a response in the form of 
a Rejection Notice

3. An appeal was made to the adjudicator against the Council’s rejection but the owner 
received no response to the appeal; or that the appeal had not yet been determined; or 
that the appeal had been determined in the appellant’s favour;

4. That the penalty charge to which the Charge Certificate relates has been paid. 

If Northampton County Court accepts the Witness Statement, this does not cancel the PCN 
but will put the charge back to the NtO stage and the Council will re-send the NtO to the 
registered keeper.

Warrant of Execution 

Where the owner has been served with an Order for Recovery for the unpaid penalty charge 
and fails to pay the charge or to complete a Witness Statement, the Council will make an 
application to The Traffic Enforcement Centre to issue a Warrant of Execution.  

Once the Warrant of Execution has been issued the debt will be passed to and Enforcement 
Agent (formally Bailiff) to collect the debt.

Enforcement Agents (EA)

A warrant of execution authorises the EA to collect payment of the debt or to seize and sell 
goods belonging to the owner to the value of the outstanding amount and to charge fees 
associated with executing the warrant. While the case is with the EA the owner must make 
payment to the EA, the Council will not accept such payments during this stage.

Representations and Appeals
 
An important aspect of the parking enforcement process is the ability of motorists and owners to 
have their objections heard and considered fully and impartially. 

The process of dealing with challenges and representations against the issue of penalty charge 
notices will therefore be carried out in a fair, unbiased and equal manner. The process includes the 
ultimate right of all appellants to refer the matter to an independent arbitrator, the Traffic Penalty 
Tribunal. 

The procedure for dealing with parking appeals is set down in Part 6 of the Traffic Management Act 
2004 and the vehicle owner may dispute the issuing of a penalty charge notice at three stages:

Gravesham Borough Council has a cancellation policy relating to PCN’s which was developed by 
the Kent Parking Managers Group.
 

1. Informal Representation (Challenge)

Page 63



An informal representation (challenge) against the penalty charge notice can be made 
before the Council has issued a ‘Notice to Owner’ (this does not apply when a penalty 
charge notice has been issued by post). Where a challenge is received within the 14 day 
discount period and is rejected the owner will be given 14 days from the date of the 
rejection letter to make payment at the discounted rate.  If a challenge is received later 
than 14 days from the date of the penalty charge notice the procedure is the same, but 
the discounted period is not restarted and the full amount is payable if the challenge is 
rejected. When a challenge is accepted a letter confirming cancellation is sent and the 
case closed.

2. Formal Representations

A formal representation can be made to the Council once a Notice to Owner has been 
issued. Formal Representations are required to be made within 28 days of issue of the 
Notice to Owner.   When submitting a formal representation the penalty charge notice 
will stand at the full amount of either £50 or £70.

If the representation is accepted, an ‘Acceptance of Representation’ letter will be sent 
and the penalty charge notice cancelled. 

If the representation is rejected, a ‘Notice of Rejection’ letter will be sent. The letter will 
give the reasons as to why the representation was rejected, along with information about 
how to make payment, and how to appeal to the Traffic Penalty Tribunal.

3. Appeal to the Traffic Penalty Tribunal (TPT)

If a formal representation is rejected by the Council they may appeal against the 
Council’s Notice of Rejection to the Traffic Penalty Tribunal. 

If appealing to the Traffic Penalty Tribunal, the appellant has 28 days from date of 
service of the Notice of Rejection to submit their appeal. 

Traffic Penalty Tribunal (TPT)

The Traffic Penalty Tribunal (TPT) exists as an independent body to determine appeals against 
Penalty Charge Notices. If a driver chooses to appeal to the TPT then he/she forfeits the right to pay 
the charge at the reduced rate. The service is free to motorists and appeals may be made either by 
post, in person either at a personal hearing or over the telephone. The TPT has the power to award 
costs, either to the appellant or to the Council, if either party are found to have behaved in a 
vexatious or frivolous manner, but these powers are rarely exercised. The Adjudicator’s decision is 
final and neither the Council nor the driver of the vehicle can argue their case in another court at a 
later date. 

More information on the Traffic Penalty Tribunal can be found on the website www.patrol-uk.info.

Paying Penalty Charge Notice & Instalment Arrangements

Gravesham Borough Council has adopted penalty charges of £70 and £50 as per Council Decision 
Notice 19/2008 (both of which may be discounted by 50% if payment is received within 14 days of 
issue of the penalty charge notice).

Payments can be made by cash or card in the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, DA12 
1AU.  Payments can be made 24 hours a day 7 days a week online at 
www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking or by automated telephone line on 01474 337788.  

Page 64

http://www.patrol-uk.info/
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/parking


As a general rule the Council neither offers extension of time in which to pay penalty charge notices 
nor enters into instalment payment arrangements. 

However, exceptions may be made in cases where a debtor can demonstrate a financial hardship, 
or where they are genuinely trying to resolve payment of a number of outstanding penalty charge 
notices (more than two). 

Applications for payment by instalments must be in writing. The application must include a proposal 
for payment and be accompanied by evidence supporting the claim of financial hardship and/or that 
the person is trying to resolve the debt. This should include a breakdown of income and outgoings. 

If an instalments arrange is agreed, any outstanding penalty charge notices included in the 
arrangement will be put on hold until the arrangement ends. However, failure to make payment as 
agreed, or where further penalty charge notices are incurred, the instalment arrangement will end 
and the debtor will be given 28 days to pay in full before commencing with further recovery action.  

Note that where Enforcement Agents are already involved in pursuing the debt the owner must deal 
with the Enforcement Agent, not the Council.

Parking Enforcement – On and Off Street

‘On-street’ relates to enforcement of traffic regulation orders on the public highway. This includes 
restrictions such as yellow lines, disabled bays, loading bays, taxi ranks, bus stops, school zig zag 
markings and permit parking areas.  

‘Off-street’ relates to enforcement in the Council owned and maintained car parks and off street 
parking places. 

The Annual Report published by the Parking Service which is available to view on our website 
includes a full list of restrictions the team enforces. 

Enforcement on Private Property 

Enforcement of parking restrictions placed on private property are outside the scope of the Council’s 
enforcement operation. However, landowners may employ private enforcement contractors to 
enforce the parking restrictions on their land. This includes any private land owned by the Council 
such as housing estates and commercial premises.  

Penalty Charge Notice (PCN) 

Parking restrictions are enforced by the issuing of a penalty charge notice (PCN).  Gravesham 
Borough Council has adopted penalty charges of £70 and £50 as per Council Decision Notice 
19/2008 

Higher level PCN’s for more serious breaches are £70 and are issued for more serious 
contraventions such as parking on double yellow lines.  Lower level PCN’s are £50 and are issued 
for less serious breaches such as parked with an expired pay & display ticket.  Both levels of PCN 
will be discounted by 50% if payment is received within 14 days of issue of the PCN. 

The PCN can be served in two ways-

1. Regulation 9 PCN – This is the most common way the CEO will issue a PCN.  This occurs 
when the CEO has observed the vehicle parked in contravention of the Traffic Regulation 
Order.  The PCN will either be affixed to the windscreen of the vehicle (if the driver cannot 
be found) or handed to the driver if the driver is located.

Page 65



2. Regulation 10 PCN – A Regulation 10 Penalty Charge Notice is sent in the post to the 
registered keep/owner of a vehicle rather than fixed to the vehicle or handed to the driver.

Vehicle owner’s details will be obtained from DVLA in order to send out a Regulation 10 
notice if:

 our Civil Enforcement Officer attempted to serve the PCN by affixing it to the vehicle 
but was prevented from doing so by someone

 our Civil Enforcement Officer was unable to serve the PCN due to the vehicle being 
driven away

Regulation 10 Penalty Charge Notices have been introduced to reduce the number of 
evaded notices and to support CEOs. Motorists who try to prevent a PCN being served by 
driving away or behaving in a threatening or abusive manner towards a CEO will still receive 
a PCN in the post.

Improving compliance with parking regulations will contribute to improved road safety, 
reduce public transport journey times and less congestion.

Regulation 10 PCN by Approved Device 

The Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (England) General Regulations 2007 allows for a 
PCN’s to be issued by an approved device (ANPR camera) to vehicles that are parked on

 a bus stop clearway or bus stand clearway
 a Keep Clear zig-zag area outside schools

The Council do not currently undertake enforcement of contraventions detected with a camera and 
associated recording equipment. Policy on camera enforcement is therefore not included within this 
document.

Penalty Charge Notice Evidence Gathering

Before issuing a penalty charge notice the Civil Enforcement Officer must ensure that: 

 All relevant road markings, signs and plates are in place and clearly visible/readable. 
 The nearest pay and display ticket machine is working and, if not, that there is working 

equipment within a reasonable distance. 
 There are no visible pay and display tickets or a RingGo pay by phone session has not been 

purchased and there are no permits, dispensation or badges on display which exempt the 
vehicle from the restriction. 

 They switch on their body worn video camera to capture any relevant evidence. 

The Civil Enforcement Officer will carry out appropriate observations in regard to loading, unloading, 
vehicle positions; including valve positions, in accordance with the criteria set out in this document.

As per the Traffic Management Act 2004 if the driver of a vehicle can be located they will be given 
the opportunity to move the vehicle off the restriction/contravention within a specified time frame 
and prior to a PCN being issued.  If the driver fails to move the vehicle the PCN will be issued.

Where a new restriction or scheme has been introduced, enforcement will not automatically start. 
Warning notices may be issued in the first week of the go live date.

Page 66



Photographic Evidence 

Civil Enforcement Officers must take photographic evidence showing that a penalty charge notice 
has been affixed to a vehicle together with any other photographs to show that no relevant 
permits/tickets/badges had been on display. Photographs are also taken in appropriate instances to 
show the contravention which has taken place (i.e. vehicle parked out of bay or on a yellow line), 
together with any other appropriate supporting evidence at the officer’s discretion.  In some 
circumstances, with Regulation 10 PCN’s all photographic evidence detailed above may not be 
possible.

Parking Contraventions - Specific Penalty Charge Notice Issuing Criteria

Parking Restrictions 

The hours during which restrictions are in force can vary and the responsibility lies with the motorist 
to take care when and where they park. Restrictions are generally as follows: 

 Resident parking schemes, Permit Parking Areas and Controlled Parking Zones. 
 Single and Double Yellow Lines
 Loading Prohibitions 
 Designated Loading Bays 
 Disabled Bays
 Taxi Ranks
 School Keep Clear Markings
 Bus Stops
 On Street Pay & display areas
 Car Park restrictions/tariffs.

Specific Penalty Charge Notice Issuing Criteria 

There is a single, nationwide list of contraventions and associated code numbers, which is revised 
from time to time. Not all contraventions are necessarily applicable in every authority’s enforcement 
area (where a particular contravention is not covered by a Traffic Regulation Order in that area). 

Contraventions which are applicable within the Borough are listed below with the penalty charge 
notice issuing criteria with which the Civil Enforcement Officer must comply in regards to the parking 
contravention.

Page 67



On-Street 

Code Contravention Description Enforcement Criteria

01 Parked in a restricted street 
during prescribed hours 

Observe the vehicle for 5 minutes to ascertain if 
loading or unloading is taking place (zero tolerance 
and zero observation may be used around schools). 
Shopping is not considered as loading therefore time 
is not given to enable drivers to make purchases. 

Instant issue of a penalty charge notice after 5 
minutes observation period if no loading/unloading 
seen. If activity observed, allowed as long as 
necessary. 

Disabled Blue Badges holders exempt for 3 hours. 
Badge must be valid and displayed correctly including 
time clock. If clock not set correctly PCN will be 
issued. 

If vehicle overstays the 3 hours a PCN will be issued. 

Double yellow lines and single yellow lines are 
enforceable from the middle of the highway to the 
highway boundary line. This will include footways and 
pavements as well as verges.

02 Parked loading/unloading in a 
restricted street where waiting and 
unloading restrictions are in force 

Instant issue of a penalty charge notice. No 
observation time needed.

If picking up/setting down of passengers is observed, 
sufficient time should be allowed for this. 

Blue Badge holders are not exempt and a penalty 
charge notice should be issued. 

12 Parked in a residents or shared 
use parking place or zone without 
either clearly displaying a valid 
permit or voucher or pay and 
display ticket issued for that place, 
or without payment of the parking 
charge 

Observe for 5 minutes to ascertain if loading or 
unloading is taking place. 

Visual inspection to be undertaken of windscreen and 
vehicle interior before issue of a penalty charge 
notice. 

Blue Badge holders are exempt. Badge must be valid 
and displayed correctly. Time clock not required. 

19 Parked in a residents or shared 
use parking place or zone either 

Observe for 5 minutes to ascertain if loading or 
unloading is taking place. 

Page 68



displaying an invalid permit or 
voucher or pay and display ticket , 
or after expiry of paid for time 

Visual inspection to be undertaken of windscreen and 
vehicle interior before issue of a penalty charge 
notice. Validity of any displayed permits to be 
checked. 

Blue Badge holders are exempt. Badge must be valid 
and displayed correctly. Time clock not required.  

22 Re-parked in the same parking 
space within one hour (or other 
specified time) of leaving 

During initial observation, record all relevant details 
including valve position of each wheel as a 12 hour 
clock. 

On re-inspection, valve positions to be checked. 
Instant penalty charge notice after vehicle checks 
made. 

Blue Badge holders are exempt, badge must be valid 
and displayed correctly. Time clock not required.  
  

25 Parked in a loading place during 
restricted hours without loading

Observe vehicle for 5 minutes (car) or 10 minutes 
(goods vehicles) to see if loading/unloading can be 
seen.  If no activity after observation period, issue 
penalty charge notice.

Blue Badge holders not exempt.

26 Parked more than 50cm from the 
edge of the carriageway and not 
within a designated parking place 
(Double Parking) 

Enforcement only undertaken if obstruction is caused 
to passing vehicles (especially emergency and public 
transport vehicles).
 
Instant issue of a penalty charge notice.

Blue Badge holders not exempt. 
27 Parked adjacent to a dropped 

footway (kerb) 
The contravention of parking adjacent to a dropped 
kerb applies where a vehicle parks on the 
carriageway next to a place where the footway, cycle 
track or verge has been lowered to the level of the 
carriageway.  

Enforcement action against vehicles parked across 
tactile paving with an instant penalty charge notice 
issued.

Parking across private driveways to properties not 
enforced by GBC and requests referred to Kent Police 
as an obstruction issue.

Blue Badge holders not exempt. 
30 Parked for longer than permitted Valve positions to be checked. 

Page 69



A grace period of 10 minutes is permitted after the 
limited waiting time has ended.
 
Instant issue of a penalty charge notice after this 
period. 

Blue Badge holders are exempt, badge must be valid 
and displayed correctly.  Time clock not required.

40 Parked in a designated disabled 
person’s parking place without 
clearly displaying a valid disabled 
person’s badge. 

Visual inspection to be undertaken of windscreen and 
vehicle interior for evidence of a blue badge

If no badge is displayed or an invalid badge is 
displayed, instant issue of penalty charge notice.

If badge cannot be read (upside down or obscured) 
penalty charge notice to be issued.

Suspected fraud or misuse of badge to be reported.

Time clock not required.
45 Parked on a taxi rank Rank is for ‘Hackney’ carriages only. Private hire 

vehicles are not permitted to stop.  

Vehicles to be moved on if driver present, otherwise 
instant issue of a penalty charge notice. 

Blue Badge holders not exempt. 

47 Stopped on a restricted bus 
stop/stand 

Buses/coaches only, Instant issue of a PCN, to all 
other vehicles. 

Blue Badge holders not exempt. 

48 Stopped in a restricted area 
outside a school 

Instant issue of a PCN. 

Blue Badge holders not exempt. 

Page 70



99 Stopped on a pedestrian crossing 
or crossing area marked by 
zigzags 

Instant issue of a PCN. 

Blue Badge holders not exempt. 

(Note: If Police have already taken action no penalty 
charge notice to be issued-criminal action takes 
precedence. 

Off-Street (Car Parks)

Code Contravention Description Enforcement Criteria

80 Parked for longer than the 
maximum period permitted 

A grace period of 10 minutes is permitted after 
maximum period permitted.

Instant issue of a penalty charge notice. 

Blue Badge holders are exempt. Badge must be valid 
and displayed correctly. Time clock not required.

81 Parked in a restricted area in a 
car park 

Instant issue of a penalty charge notice. 
 
Blue Badge holders not exempt. 

82 Parked after the expiry of paid for 
time 

A grace period of 10 minutes is permitted after the pay 
& display ticket expires.

Instant issue of a penalty charge notice beyond this 
period. 

Blue Badge holders are exempt. Badge must be valid 
and displayed correctly. Time clock not required.

83 Parked in a car park without 
clearly displaying a valid pay & 
display ticket 

5 minute observation period to be given to ensure 
driver is not purchasing a pay and display ticket.  

Visual inspection to be undertaken of windscreen and 
vehicle interior before issue of a penalty charge 
notice. 

Page 71



Validity of any displayed tickets to be checked. 
If unable to verify or read face down tickets a penalty 
charge notice to be issued. 

Blue Badge holders are exempt. Badge must be valid 
and displayed correctly. Time clock not required.

85 Parked in a permit bay without 
clearly displaying a valid permit 

Visual inspection to be undertaken of windscreen and 
vehicle interior before issue of a penalty charge 
notice. 

Validity of any displayed permits to be checked-
penalty charge notice to be issued for invalid permit. 

If unable to verify or read face down permits a penalty 
charge notice to be issued. 

Suspected fraud or misuse of permit to be reported. 

No observation period, instant penalty charge notice 
issued.

Blue Badge holders not exempt
86 Parked beyond bay markings At least one wheel should be outside bay/space.

Where a series of vehicles have straddled the bay 
markings and it is not possible to identify which 
vehicle first caused the effect a penalty charge notice 
should not be issued. 

Two or more bays to be affected before issue of a 
penalty charge notice. 

No observation period, instant penalty charge notice 
issued.

Blue Badge holders not exempt
87 Parked in a disabled person’s 

parking space without clearly 
displaying a valid disabled 
person’s badge 

Visual inspection to be undertaken of windscreen and 
vehicle interior for evidence of a blue badge

If no badge is displayed or an expired badge is 
displayed, instant issue of penalty charge notice.

If badge cannot be read (upside down or obscured) 
penalty charge notice to be issued.

Suspected fraud or misuse of badge to be reported. 
91 Parked in an area not designated 

for that class of vehicle 
Visual inspection to be undertaken of windscreen and 
vehicle interior before issue of a penalty charge 
notice. 

Zero observation period.

Blue Badge holders not exempt.

Page 72



92 Parked causing an obstruction Instant issue of a penalty charge notice. 

Blue Badge holders not exempt. 

Specific Enforcement and Appeal Criteria 

This is not meant to be an exhaustive list and there will be occasions where either the Civil 
Enforcement Officer or back office staff will need to consider a case on its individual merits and 
need to apply a common sense/gained experience approach on whether to issue a penalty charge 
notice in the first instance and then subsequently whether to cancel or enforce it. The following sets 
out how we will deal with various enforcement issues and situations of vehicles parked in 
contravention of local restrictions in Gravesham.

Abandoned Vehicles

Where a vehicle remains parked for a period during which multiple penalty charge notices are 
issued for the same offence (a maximum of three) a Civil Enforcement Officer reports the vehicle as 
potentially abandoned and information is passed to the appropriate Council officer. 

Criteria to be used in identifying Abandoned Vehicles are: 

 General poor condition of vehicle, for example multiple flat tyres. 
 No evidence of movement. 
 Untaxed
 Multiple penalty charge notices attached to the vehicle. 

Whilst the vehicle is being dealt with as potentially abandoned no further penalty charge notices are 
issued.

Bank Holidays - Restrictions Applicable 

Waiting and loading restrictions, as indicated by yellow line markings on the carriageway and/or 
kerb may be in force throughout the year. 

In the Council’s pay and display car parks restrictions and conditions of use are displayed. 

Motorists should not assume that restrictions do not apply to Bank Holidays unless this is 
specifically stated in the relative signage

Blocked Access 

Drivers who claim they are unable to gain access to their private or commercial property are not 
entitled to park in contravention of any parking restriction. Where access to the highway is being 
blocked and no parking restriction is in place the matter can be reported to Kent Police on the non-
emergency number 101.

Blue Badge Drivers and Passengers

Blue Badges can only be used when the vehicle is being used to transport the Blue Badge holder 
either as driver or passenger. It is not permitted to use the Badge for any other purpose e.g. 
shopping for the Badge holder when they, themselves, are not being transported in the vehicle. 

Page 73



Blue Badge Holders are not allowed to park in any area where there is a clearway, loading ban, 
loading restriction, bus stop, zig zag, taxi ranks or keep clear marking. Parking must always be in 
accordance with The Blue Badge Scheme. Parking charges do not currently apply in Council owned 
or operated car parks.

Failure to display the badge/clock correctly will result in a PCN being issued.  When considering 
appeals from badge holders in these circumstances, the Council will take into account previous 
contraventions and if no previous contraventions for incorrectly displayed badge have occurred in 
the previous year the appeal will be allowed on one occasion and a warning given with advice on 
how badges should be displayed. 

Broken Down Vehicles 

Not all vehicle breakdowns are visible to the CEO and therefore claims of alleged breakdown are 
accepted if they appear to be unavoidable and supporting evidence in the form of one or more of 
the following is produced: 

 Garage receipt, on headed paper, properly completed and indicating repair of alleged fault 
within a reasonable time of the contravention. 

 Till receipt for purchase of seemingly relevant spare parts purchased on or soon after the 
date of the contravention. 

 Confirmatory letter/documentation from the RAC, AA, garage or other motoring organisation. 

 Confirmation from a Civil Enforcement Officer that the vehicle was obviously broken down or 
was seen to be towed away. 

A note left in the windscreen of the vehicle stating that “the vehicle has broken down” is not 
necessarily accepted by a CEO as a reason for not issuing a PCN. 

If the vehicle has specific damage such as Road Traffic Collision damage or a flat tyre then the 
CEO will make a note of this and take photographic evidence.

Builders/Tradespersons

Residents Permit Parking Zones - All trade vehicles parked within a residents permit 
parking zone are required to display a valid visitor scratch card which is obtained from the 
resident. If no visitor scratch card is available parking will only be allowed whilst 
loading/unloading of tools and materials is taking place. At all other times the vehicle must 
be moved to an unrestricted parking area.

Permit Parking Area (PPA) or Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) - All trade vehicles parked 
within a PPA or CPZ are required to display valid visitor waiver permit which is obtained from 
the resident. If no visitor permit is available parking will only be allowed whilst 
loading/unloading of tools and materials is taking place. At all other times the vehicle must 
be moved to an unrestricted parking area.

Yellow line restrictions - Parking is only allowed whilst loading or unloading of tools and 
materials are taking place. At all other times vehicles must be moved to an unrestricted 
parking area.

Care Organisations, Doctors and Social Services 

Page 74



Numerous care organisations operate within the Borough as well as privately arranged care 
providers. Although some organisations, Doctors, Nurses, Midwives or Social Service Departments 
may display their own badges or permits in their vehicles, these are not valid as authority to park.  
CEO’s will use their discretion when they see such badges in vehicles.  If a PCN is issued to a 
vehicle that was being used by a Doctor etc. who is on call visiting a patient then discretion may be 
used in the subsequent appeal and the PCN may be cancelled.

Clamping and Removing 

It is not the policy of this Authority to clamp and remove vehicles, although the legal powers are in 
place to do so. Any such action On-Street would require the consent of Kent County Council, on 
whose behalf Gravesham Borough Council are acting. 

Enforcement Agents working on behalf of the Council to recover unpaid PCN debt do have the legal 
powers to immobilise and /or remove vehicles. The Enforcement Agent will use these powers when 
dealing with customers that have an outstanding warrant and the debtor is purposely avoiding 
making contact.  

Complaints against Civil Enforcement Officers 

Allegations that an Officer has made an error whilst issuing a penalty charge notice are investigated 
under the normal ‘Challenge’ and ‘Representations’ procedures. 

Any allegation of misconduct or rudeness made against an Officer is dealt with under the Council’s 
formal complaints and / or disciplinary procedures.

Council Officers and Members on duty 

All council officers and Members on official duty are expected to fully comply with parking 
regulations:

Council car parks - Staff or Members using their vehicle to carry out their official council 
duties must display their Council issued permit whilst parked. Permits are only valid during 
periods when official duties are being carried out and at all other times the restrictions 
(purchase of a pay and display ticket) must be complied with. Unless on council business 
and displaying the permit, vehicles and keepers are subject to all relevant parking charges 
and penalties.

Parking on yellow lines – Officers and Members are not permitted to park on yellow lines 
whilst carrying out their official duties. 

Challenging a PCN – if a Council Officer or Member receives a PCN, they have the right to 
appeal and must put their challenge/appeal in writing. 

Dental/Doctors’ Appointments

Challenges or representations that are made against an issue of a penalty charge notice claiming 
that, due to a delay in an appointment time or that treatment took longer than anticipated, resulted in 
a contravention of overstaying in a pay and display car park are given due consideration. 

Any such claims should be supported by written confirmation from the dentist or doctor that the 
delay was caused by reasons outside of the person’s control. However, the Council will need to be 

Page 75



satisfied that the parking time purchased was reasonably sufficient to allow for normal delays 
experienced whilst attending such appointments.

Description of Vehicle and location of vehicle on Penalty Charge Notice 

When issuing a penalty charge notice the Civil Enforcement Officer is required to note the make, 
colour and registration number of the vehicle, which is printed on the notice. The officer will also 
note other details such as position of tyre valves, permit details etc. which shall form part of the 
supporting records.

Incorrect vehicle colour - If the colour is incorrectly recorded, due consideration may be 
given to cancellation of the penalty charge notice as follows: 

 Similar colours can be mistaken for each other especially in poor light. Where there 
is a close relationship between the colours a penalty charge notice will be pursued. 

 Where there is wide difference (i.e. a blue car recorded as a white) cancellation of 
the penalty charge notice may be given serious consideration. 

Incorrect vehicle make - Different manufacturers do produce models that look similar, but it 
would be very difficult to enforce a penalty charge notice issued to a totally different make of 
vehicle. In such instances due consideration is given to cancelling a penalty charge notice

Incorrect Location - When a penalty charge notice is issued the location of the vehicle is 
stated on the notice. If the location is recorded incorrectly the penalty charge notice may be 
cancelled.
 
Diplomatic Vehicles - Diplomatic vehicles are not exempt from parking restrictions. A Civil 
Enforcement Officer will therefore issue a penalty charge notice to such vehicles if normal 
criteria requirements are met. 

If a DVLA response shows that the vehicle has diplomatic privileges (a ‘D’ plate), the penalty 
charge notice is not subject to the enforcement procedure because many diplomats are not 
subject to civil jurisdiction. 

Vehicles with an ‘X’ plate indicate that the owner is an embassy employee and, as such, 
does not have diplomatic immunity. In these instances the Council applies the normal 
enforcement procedures.

Discretion 

The Secretary of State for Transport considers that the exercise of discretion should, in the main, 
rest with back office staff as part of considering challenges against PCNs and representation 
against a NtO. This is to protect CEOs from allegations of inconsistency, favouritism or suspicion of 
bribery. It also gives greater consistency in the enforcement of traffic regulations.

Drink Driving or Other Arrest

If as a direct result of being arrested or detained by the police a driver of a vehicle has been forced 
to leave a vehicle in contravention of a parking restriction a resultant penalty charge notice may not 
be pursued, if the view of officers is that the driver has not had time to remove the vehicle upon 
release from custody. 

Where challenges against the issue of a penalty charge notice are made on arrest claims the 
Council requires the driver of the vehicle to provide supporting documentation/evidence of the 
arrest. Failure of the driver to supply or obtain supporting documentation/evidence leads to the 
penalty charge notice being pursued.

Page 76



Dropping Off and Picking Up 

Except on designated clearways and zig-zag areas at schools and pedestrian crossings any vehicle 
may be allowed a reasonable amount of time to pick up or drop-off passengers irrespective of any 
waiting or loading restriction in force.

It is considered that two minutes is a reasonable amount of time for picking up or setting down 
passengers unless it involves young children, the elderly or disabled persons.

Emergency Duties 

It is accepted that persons engaged on emergency duties (i.e. Doctors, nurses, midwives) may 
need to park in contravention of parking controls in some instances. 

Attendance to emergency call outs by plumbers, electricians, gas fitters etc. are considered to last 
as long as it takes to make the premises safe i.e. turn off the main supply, after which the Council 
would expect that the vehicle be moved to a permitted parking place before any subsequent repairs 
are undertaken.

Foreign Vehicles 

Foreign registered vehicles are not exempt from parking regulations and Civil Enforcement Officers 
should issue a penalty charge notice to such vehicles if normal criteria requirements are met.

Footway Parking 

Civil Enforcement Officers can only issue a penalty charge notice to a vehicle parked on a footway 
where a parking control exists. Waiting and Loading restrictions cover the whole highway, which 
includes footways and verges. A penalty charge notice can therefore be issued to a vehicle parked 
on a footway if it is adjacent to the single or double yellow line restriction.  

In some areas of the Borough there is a specific Traffic Regulation Order in place prohibiting 
footway parking.

Funerals and Weddings 

Vehicles actively involved in a funeral or a wedding should be given due consideration and respect 
and PCN’s will not be issued.

However, any PCN issued to vehicles associated with a funeral or wedding should be considered 
with due respect and PCN’s would only be enforced when blatant disregard to restrictions has been 
confirmed.

If PCN’s are inadvertently issued to vehicles associated with a funeral or wedding, mitigating 
circumstances will be considered upon receipt of an appeal.

Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles
 
Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles operating within the Borough are licensed by 
Gravesham Borough Council and carry a numbered license plate that must be displayed on the 
vehicle. 

Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles, like all vehicles, can stop to allow passengers to 
board or alight for as long as is reasonably necessary. It is not an exempted activity to assist 

Page 77



passengers into premises and to leave the vehicle unattended. If a licensed Hackney Carriage or 
Private Hire Vehicle is left unattended it shall be liable to receive a penalty charge notice 

Civil Enforcement Officer’s will exercise reasonable discretion to Hackney Carriages and Private 
Hire Vehicles when picking up or dropping off passengers to allow drivers reasonable time to 
announce their arrival and accept payment.

Hiring Agreement 

In instances where a penalty charge notice has been issued to a hire vehicle it is the hirer who 
becomes liable for the penalty. 

Consequently, in this instance, the responsibility does not rest with the registered keeper (the Hire 
Company) providing they make formal representation to the Council once the ‘Notice to Owner’ has 
been sent to them. The representation must be accompanied by a copy of the appropriate hire 
agreement. 

In all cases the agreement must include:
 

 The name, address and date of birth of hirer. 
 Details of the hirer’s driving licence. 
 Details of vehicle hired. 
 Start and finish dates of hire period. 

A statement signed by the hirer accepting liability for penalty notices 

Should any of the above be unclear, absent or in contradiction of the issue date/time of a penalty 
charge notice then Council policy is to enforce the notice against the Hire Company.

Loading and Unloading 

Loading and unloading is a valid exemption from certain parking contraventions. 

This activity needs to be visible and the process (i.e. the delivery/collection and obtaining any 
necessary signature etc) needs to be continuous in order to satisfy the concessions for loading and 
unloading.

If, having observed the vehicle for a minimum of 5 minutes, no activity is observed, the Civil 
Enforcement Officer should issue a penalty charge notice. The burden of proof that the exemption 
actually applied then falls on the motorist who is given the statutory opportunity of so doing by 
making a challenge or formal representation. 

Loading and unloading implies an item or items of bulk which cannot easily be carried from the 
nearest legitimate parking place. 

Overall, therefore, Officers are empowered to consider a case on its individual merits and to take 
into account all the evidence presented. Appropriate evidence could, for example, be a collection or 
delivery note verifying the address in question, the date and time of the activity and indicating the 
nature of the delivery/collection.

Lost Vehicle Keys 

Where there is evidence that car keys have been lost, stolen or locked in a car thus preventing 
removal of the vehicle from a parking area which in turn resulted in the issue of a penalty charge 
notice, then due consideration is given to the cancellation of the notice. 

Page 78



In dealing with such a claim Officers should consider all relevant circumstances. For example if the 
vehicle was parked in a pay and display car park, did the loss of the keys prevent purchase of 
additional parking time? If the vehicle was parked on a yellow line, why was it parked there in the 
first place?

Medical Emergency 

In claims made that the driver or passenger became ill or suffers from a condition involving such 
circumstances, Officers have the discretion, where it is evident that the driver could not have 
foreseen the situation. Officers may seek written corroboration in the form of witness statements or 
medically issued statements or certificates.

Missing, Obscured or Broken Road Signs or Markings 

Yellow Lines - Where a short break occurs in a length of yellow lining (due to highway 
repair, manhole cover or grating etc) and it is clearly evident that the line is otherwise 
continuous a claim made against the issue of a penalty charge notice on these grounds is 
not regarded as valid. 

Where lines are partially worn, but are still reasonably visible, a claim made against the 
issue of a penalty charge notice on these grounds is not regarded as valid. 

Where a considerable length of yellow line (where it is not clearly evident that the line is 
continuous) is missing the restriction is not enforceable and as such no penalty charge 
notices should be issued. If a penalty charge notice is issued and a claim is made on these 
grounds the notice may be cancelled.

Signs - Signs accompanying restrictions must be visible at all times. Claims that a sign was 
obscured and could not be read because of graffiti, overhanging trees etc. may be treated 
on their individual merits. If upon inspection the claim is substantiated the penalty charge 
notice may be cancelled. If the sign can be easily read the notice is pursued. 

If a sign is missing the restriction it relates to is not enforceable. If a penalty charge notice is 
issued and a valid claim is made on these grounds the notice may be cancelled.

Miss-spelling of Keeper’s Name - The miss-spelling of the keeper’s name and or address 
on the Notice to Owner does not necessarily invalidate it or discharge the liability of the 
person receiving it. The onus is on the genuine keeper to deal with the matter. 

Keeper names and address are obtained from the DVLA and are supplied by the keepers 
themselves. It is therefore incumbent upon the keeper to ensure that these are correct. 

In instances where miss-spelling is discovered, alterations are made to the Council’s records 
to ensure that future notices are sent out correctly.

Parked Across a Dropped Kerb and Parked 50cm Away from the Kerb (Double Parking)

During 2008 the Department for Transport undertook a consultation exercise as to whether 
restrictions on parking at dropped kerbs and double parking should be indicated with traffic signs 
and road markings. The response indicated clear overall support that signs and lines should not be 
required. As a result Regulations were amended to allow enforcement authorities to enforce 
prohibitions of parking at dropped kerbs and double parking without the need for Traffic Regulations 
Orders, traffic signs and road markings.   Amended Regulations came into force on 1 June 2009, 
thus allowing enforcement authorities to enforce these parking restrictions from that date. 

Page 79



As these contraventions do not require a Traffic Regulation Order, the contraventions, exemptions 
and enforcement policy is detailed below-

Parked 50cm Away from the Kerb (Double Parking)

The contravention of double parking applies when a vehicle parks on any part of the 
carriageway and no part of the vehicle is within 50cm of the edge of the carriageway. 

Although parking more than 50cm from the edge of the carriageway may not cause 
problems for smaller vehicles to pass, the passage of ambulances, fire engines, 
buses, waste collection vehicles and other essential vehicles could be obstructed.  If 
a vehicle is seen either double parked or 50cm away from a kerb and is causing an 
obstruction to the free flow of traffic a PCN will be issued.  

Exemptions to the contravention of double parking are: 
 Vehicles which are parked wholly within a designated parking place or any other part of 

the carriageway where parking is specifically authorised 
 Vehicles used by the fire, ambulance or police services 
 Where loading or unloading is taking is taking place 
 Vehicles used for waste collection, building works or road works 

Blue Badge Holders are not exempt from this restriction. 

Civil Enforcement Officers will observe for such offences when patrolling their daily 
patrol route. When a complaint is received by the council regarding a single incident 
response will be subject to best efforts, subject to staff availability and/or being mobile. 

Where there is a complaint (or series of complaints) regarding persistent and repeated 
offences, a patrol route may be modified on a temporary basis, again on a best efforts basis. 

In determining allocation of resources, particular attention will be paid to offences that 
impede the passage of those with disabilities. 

Parking at Pedestrian Dropped Kerbs (Tactile Paving)

The contravention of parking adjacent to a dropped kerb applies where a vehicle parks on 
the carriageway next to a place where the footway, cycle track or verge has been lowered to 
the level of the carriageway. Parking alongside a pedestrian dropped kerb can cause 
considerable inconvenience and put vulnerable road users at severe risk. 

In instances where a vehicle parks alongside a pedestrian dropped kerb the Council’s 
policy is to issue a penalty charge notice to the offending vehicle, subject to the 
exemptions listed below. 

Civil Enforcement Officers will observe for such offences when patrolling their daily 
patrol route. When a complaint is received by the council regarding a single incident 
response will be subject to best efforts, subject to staff availability and/or being mobile. 

Where there is a complaint (or series of complaints) regarding persistent and repeated 
offences, a patrol route may be modified on a temporary basis, again on a best efforts basis. 

In determining allocation of resources, particular attention will be paid to offences that 
impede the passage of those with disabilities. 

Page 80



Exemptions to the contravention of parking at dropped kerbs are:
 

 Alighting from a vehicle 
 Vehicles used by the fire, ambulance or police services 
 Where loading or unloading is taking place 
 Vehicles used for waste collection, building works or road works 

Blue Badge Holders are not exempt from this restriction. 

Parking at Dropped Kerbs-Driveways to Residential Premises 

Legislation also allows for enforcement by PCN when a vehicle is parked across a dropped 
kerb outside a residential property which allows vehicle access to a driveway, parking area 
or garage etc.  

There are additional exemptions to residential driveways – 

 Vehicles parked outside a driveway to residential premises with the occupier’s consent 
(but see note below)

 Vehicles parked outside a shared driveway to residential premises by or with the consent 
of residents at those premises. 

These exemptions mean that authorities should not take enforcement action where a vehicle 
is parked outside residential premises unless the occupier has asked the enforcement 
authority to do so. Authorities will need to check that the individual making such a request is 
entitled to do so. 

Due to the complications these exemptions can cause, the highway authority (Kent County 
Council) decided (decision January 2011) not to enforce at residential dropped kerbs and 
instructed the Boroughs that operate on their behalf not to enforce. Kent County Council 
have since decided that each authority can make a decision locally as to whether they will 
take enforcement action at residential dropped kerbs or not. 

The enforcement of dropped kerbs at private residential properties by Civil Enforcement 
Officers is not carried out within the Borough of Gravesham for the following reasons: 

 It would be difficult to resource the parking team to ensure consistent and fair patrols of 
areas where there are dropped kerb to private properties.

 It would be difficult for the CEO, if a vehicle was found to be parked across a private 
dropped kerb, to ascertain if permission had been granted and therefore to know 
whether to enforce or not.  

 As a dropped kerb effectively guarantees a parking space on the highway, because 
those without permission cannot park next to it, there is a risk that property owners could 
rent out that space.

 There is a risk that the authority could become embroiled in neighbourhood disputes.
 There is a risk that the service could be seen as an ‘on demand’ service for residents 

who have a dropped kerb. 

Historically the Police have also been able to enforce parking across a private dropped kerb 
when a vehicle blocks a vehicle (that is parked on the driveway) from gaining access to the 
Public Highway. This parking offence is an obstruction to the Highway and the Police are still 
able to and do currently enforce this restriction.

Page 81



Pay and Display Tickets / RingGo

Motorists parking within the Council’s pay and display car parks and On Street pay & display areas 
are required to purchase a ticket at the time of parking for the amount of time required. 

Tickets display the expiry date and time together with the fee paid and name of the parking place.  

Pay and display tickets must be: 

 Clearly displayed whilst the vehicle is parked. 
 For the date shown. 
 Un-expired. 
 For the correct car park or on street pay & display area. 
 For the correct vehicle

Parking time can also be purchased through the Councils pay by phone provider, RingGo. 

There is no physical ticket to display when using RingGo but the parking time needs to be 
purchased at the time of parking and cover the whole parking stay.  The parking time also needs to 
be purchased for the correct parking zone.

A PCN will be issued if the above criteria is not adhered to. 

Challenges or representations made on the grounds that a ticket had been purchased but had fallen 
out of view may be allowed upon proof of purchase of a ticket. However the onus lies on the 
motorist to avoid this; second and subsequent occurrences by the same owner may result in such 
challenges being rejected. 

Challenges or representations made on the grounds that the driver did not have change are not 
accepted as valid reasons for not displaying a valid pay and display ticket. 

Challenges or representations made because of delays returning to the car park are dealt with in 
accordance with the policies covered elsewhere in this document. 

Where it is claimed that a machine was not working and it is subsequently confirmed (by 
maintenance records, Civil Enforcement Officer notes or machine test records) that the machine 
was not working at the time then the penalty charge notice may be cancelled.

However, if there was an alternative machine, in working order in the same car park, then it is 
reasonable to expect that the driver would use this machine. The matter is dealt with by Officers on 
its individual merits

Permission to Park given by Police Officer 

A police officer in uniform can direct or give permission for a vehicle to wait or park where 
restrictions are in existence. 

In claims made that permission was given to park/wait, confirmation from the police officer 
concerned is required prior to the cancellation of a penalty charge notice.

Permits 

The Council issues a number of different permits (resident, visitor, town centre worker, car park 
season permit). 

Page 82



Permits are subject to the terms and condition of use which are supplied at the time of issue. They 
are only valid for the area and vehicle for which they are issued and for the period specified. 

Failing to display a permit, displaying an out of date permit, using a permit in another area or on a 
vehicle other than that indicated is an offence and subject to the usual penalty notice processes set 
out in this policy. 

The onus is on the permit holder to ensure the permit is displayed.

Police Vehicles 

Penalty charge notices are not issued to marked police vehicles when on official duty. 

A request for cancellation of a penalty charge notice issued to an unmarked vehicle must be 
supported by confirmation from the officer’s superior that the vehicle was engaged in such an 
assignment.

Pregnancy – Parents with Young Children

Generally pregnancy is not considered to be a disability and delays caused by young children 
should not normally lead to the cancellation of a PCN. 

However, this is a sensitive area and each case should be treated on its merits. If the delay was 
caused by the parent not allowing enough time to deal with young children or their own condition, 
both of which they are fully aware of, then the PCN will not normally be cancelled.

Requests for Enforcement

We receive regular requests for additional enforcement patrols for specific restrictions, roads or 
areas.  Requests can be received by phone or in writing and are generally from residents or 
businesses in the area but can also be from Police, Emergency Services or organisations such as 
Schools.  

We will investigate all requests and if it is an issue that that the CEO’s can enforce then patrols of 
the reported areas will be made. 

We do on occasions receive requests asking for immediate enforcement of a certain restriction 
where a vehicle is causing obstructions to traffic.  Whilst we attempt to respond to these requests as 
a matter of urgency, it will depend on the resources we have available at the time and where they 
are in the Borough.

Stolen Vehicle 

In claims that a vehicle issued with a penalty charge notice had been stolen the owner must provide 
supporting documentary evidence in the form of a crime reference number and/or corroboration of 
the theft from the police and/or insurance company.

Taxi Ranks 

A number of taxi ranks operate within the Borough. Vehicles, other than Hackney Carriages parked 
in such ranks are subject to the penalty charge notice procedures set out in this policy.

Page 83



Zigzag markings outside schools 

Zigzag markings outside schools are installed for the safety of children. Time plates showing the 
hours of operation will be in place on the marking.

Vehicles parked on restricted markings, during the times shown on the plate, are issued with a 
penalty charge notice which will not be cancelled under any circumstances (including that the driver 
was picking-up or dropping-off children). 

Zigzag markings at pedestrian crossing 

The Police still retain powers to enforce zigzag markings at pedestrian crossings. If the Council and 
the Police both take enforcement action, the criminal action takes precedence and a penalty charge 
notice issued by a Civil Enforcement Officer may be cancelled. In these instances if a penalty 
charge has been paid it can be refunded.

Policy Review

This policy will be reviewed every three years, or if there is a change in local circumstances and / or 
government policy and guidance. 

Page 84



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 11 November 2019

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian, Assistant Director (Housing Assets)
Roy Catling, Asset Manager

Subject: Procurement of Major & Planned Works, Servicing, Repairs & 
Maintenance Contracts

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform the Cabinet of the current position in relation to the contracts in place to maintain 
the Council’s housing stock which incorporates contracts for Major & Planned Works and 
Servicing, Repairs & Maintenance contracts. The report seeks approval for the use of the 
relevant frameworks to procure and award contracts in accordance with Graveshams 
Procurement Strategy.

Recommendations:
1. The Director (Housing & Operations) in consultation with the S151 Officer and Lead 

Member be given delegated authority to conduct the procurement process and award 
the contracts for Major & Planned Works, Servicing, Repairs and Maintenance 
contracts using procurement frameworks by way of mini tender as outlined in the 
report.

2. The Director (Housing & Operations) in consultation with the S151 Officer and Lead 
Member be given delegated authority to grant annual extensions for Major & Planned 
Works, Servicing, Repairs and Maintenance contracts subject to satisfactory 
contractor performance.

3. The Director (Housing & Operations) in consultation with the S151 Officer and Lead 
Member be given delegated authority to grant temporary extensions on the current 
Term Contracts in place, in accordance with legislative procurement requirements, to 
provide added resilliance and consistancy to the service and our tenants during the 
lead in to the award of the new contracts.

1. Background 

1.1 As a landlord, Gravesham Borough Council has a statutory duty to ensure its 
housing stock is properly maintained, that equipment is serviced and that any 
responsive repairs are completed within a timely manner and it is essential that 
external service providers are in place to assist with the delivery of required 
works.   

Page 85 Agenda Item 10



2

1.2 The DSO Building Management Service control this function which covers three 
areas Responsive Repairs, Major & Planned Works and Compliancy & Projects:

1.2.1 Responsive Repairs – This area of work is managed by the Responsive 
Repairs Team which oversees all minor responsive repairs as reported by 
our tenants, or identified through inspection.  In addition they carry out the 
void property programme of works.

1.2.2 Major & Planned Works – This area of work is managed by the Asset 
Management Team and is responsible for the delivery of investment 
programmes and projects which include roofing, doors & windows, 
electrical testing and cyclical redecorations. 

1.2.3 Compliancy & Projects – This area of work is managed by the Asset 
Management Team which oversees all servicing, maintenance and repairs 
to equipment. This includes responsibility for regulatory and legislative 
compliancy for gas, asbestos, legionella and fire. 

1.3 In March 2016, Cabinet agreed to the use of the South East Consortium (SEC) 
framework to procure a number contractors to carry out certain major planned 
works, servicing, repairs & maintenance programmes co-ordinated by the Asset 
Management Team, covering areas such as electrical testing, upgrades and 
rewires, replacement UPVC doors & windows, along with some servicing and 
repair programmes (Passenger Lifts, Warden Call, Door Entry and Fire Alarms. In 
addition the Procurement Strategy 2017-2020 actively encourages the use of 
frameworks for procurement.

1.4 As contracts have historically been procured at different times as and when 
required, it was not possible to renew all contracts when the last procurement 
exercise was conducted in 2018-19. Therefore a number of contracts are nearing 
expiry or will be expiring within the next 12 months and require re-procurement.   

2. Current Position

2.1 The doors & windows programme covers the replacement or refurbishment of 
windows, doors, fire doors, guttering, fascia’s, soffits, porches and external 
cladding. The current contract, which was awarded to Sovereign in 2016, will 
expire in May 2020 following the maximum amount of extensions available within 
the contract. 

2.2 The electrical testing programme is the largest contract in value within this round 
of procurement. It covers the provision of electrical testing, installations and / or 
upgrades to a variety of individual residential properties, communal areas and 
residential blocks. The current contract, which was awarded to Smith & Byford in 
2016, expires in May 2020 following the maximum amount of extensions available 
within the contract. Additional funding was approved from the HRA for the 2019-
2020 programmes to ensure that all blocks and properties within the portfolio 
would have a valid electrical certification in place by 31 March 2020. This will then 
enable a re-profiling exercise to take place to create a five year cyclical rolling 
programme to give certainty of costs. The proposal is to award this contract for a 
two year period which will enable a review to be undertaken to consider bringing 
the electrical testing programme back in-house and be carried out by GBC directly 
employed electricians. 

2.3 Within our portfolio of properties we have 24 passenger lifts across the stock. The 
current contractor is Express Lift Alliance who was awarded the contract in 2016 

Page 86



3

that will expire in July 2020 following the maximum amount of extensions available 
within the contract. The current service provided includes the servicing, 
maintenance and refurbishment/installation (as required) of all passenger lifts. In 
addition it covers annual or bi-annual checks, overhead load tests, LOLER (Lifting 
Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations) checks, a breakdown/emergency 
service and supply of all parts. 

2.4 The Door Entry Programme covers the servicing, maintenance, and installation of 
door entry systems, CCTV and intruder alarm systems. The works include door 
entry control equipment, including magnetic and electric locks, audio and video 
equipment, key fob panels, door entry handsets, power supplies for door entry 
systems, door closers, door locks and handles, door hinges. The contract was 
awarded to SEA in June 2016 and will expire June 2020 following the maximum 
amount of extensions available within the contract. 

2.5 The Fire Alarm & Emergency Lighting (EL) programme covers the servicing, 
maintenance and installation of fire and intruder alarm systems and emergency 
lighting. The contract was awarded to Multifire in May 2016 and will expire June 
2020 following the maximum amount of extensions available within the contract. It 
includes repairs, maintenance and servicing works to control panels, remote 
keypads, door and window switches, infra-red detectors, communicators and 
bells/sounders/ strobes with an annual spend of £60,000. Following a review a 
decision was made to bring the emergency light testing within our sheltered 
schemes back in-house which commenced on 1 July 2019 and is now carried out 
by GBC directly employed electricians. The remainder of the emergency light 
block testing across the portfolio will also be managed internally from 1 
September 2019. Therefore the re-procurement will be solely for fire alarms.  

2.6 The Warden Call programme covers the servicing, maintenance and installation of 
warden call systems. The contract was awarded to SEA in June 2016, and will 
expire June 2020 following the maximum amount of extensions available within 
the contract. The works include speech units, handsets or pendants; plug in 
terminals, door panels, warden call panels, central receiver antennae and 
chargers. 

2.7 Currently when a property is being refurbished or is a void there is a need to  
ensure it is safely secured. This is achieved by the installation of Sitex to all 
openings (doors & windows) with a door code to manage access to the dwelling. 
The current contract was awarded to Orbis in October 2015. This contract will 
expire in October 2019 but an exemption has been approved until 31st March 
2020, authorised by the Council’s Section 151 Officer to allow for procurement to 
be undertaken. As the existing contract was procured via The London Housing 
Consortium (LHC), it is proposed to follow the same route. In addition SEC does 
not have a framework to cover this type of contract.

2.8 Historically we have employed a local contractor, 1st About Plumbing to carry out 
major works on our water mains and drainage systems. However, the value of 
works over the past two years has reached a threshold for which we will have to 
carry out a mini tender exercise. An exemption has been approved until 31st 
March 2020, authorised by the Council’s Section 151 Officer to allow for 
procurement to be undertaken. Neither SEC nor the LHC have a framework for 
drainage so a decision has been made to procure using the framework available 
via the Procurement Hub. 

Page 87



4

2.9 A list of current contracts with the corresponding SEC and LHC Lot numbers that 
are due to expire can be found in Appendix 2, along with the annual levels of both 
capital and revenue spend and duration of contract.

3. Procurement

3.1 As explained in Section 2 of this report and shown in Appendix 2, the existing 
contracts for the specified work areas will expire in 2020 and therefore need to be 
re-procured to ensure consistency in work programmes and value for money. 
Appendix 3 sets out the individual contracts that need to be re-procured, along 
with contract periods and estimated annual capital and revenue spend. 

3.2 Since 2012, Gravesham Borough Council has been an active member of the 
South East Consortium (SEC) which is a non-profit making organisation delivering 
efficiency savings to the South East social housing sector and which was set up to 
deliver procurement savings for social housing providers.  Members of the SEC 
now collectively manage over 140,000 properties and use the procurement 
frameworks in place to deliver an efficient and value for money process which 
complies with EU procurement legislation. 

3.3 The SEC has developed a wide range of pre-tendered frameworks through 
collaborative procurement arrangements involving a number of public sector 
organisations, which have been procured in accordance with domestic and 
European legislation and from which the Council or any other member of SEC 
may legitimately appoint contractors to meet their operational needs.

3.4 The benefits of using SEC frameworks are as follows:

 Our annual cost with SEC is 25p per property. For 2019-2020 this cost will 
amount to £1,421 and allows us to procure as many contracts as 
necessary. 

 SEC research has highlighted that the average cost of a procurement 
exercise is circa £20,000.

 On completion of a procurement exercise SEC will charge 1.5% of the 
contract sum for the tender process. This cost is met by the successful 
contractor and not GBC.

3.5 There are six relevant frameworks available via the SEC to meet our current 
procurement requirements which can be found in Appendix 4.   

3.6 LHC is a not-for-profit central purchasing body who develop OJEU-compliant 
frameworks in England, Scotland (on behalf of the Scottish Procurement Alliance) 
and Wales (on behalf of the Welsh Procurement Alliance).  LHC's frameworks are 
available to all publicly funded contracting authorities to procure works, goods and 
services to construct, refurbish and maintain social housing, schools and public 
buildings.

3.7 There is one relevant framework available via the LHC to meet our current 
procurement requirements which can be found in Appendix 4.   

3.8 The Procurement Hub is part of Places for People, one of the UK's largest 
property management, development and regeneration companies. Places for 
People are responsible for more than 200,000 properties and over 120 leisure 
centres across the UK.

Page 88



5

3.9 There is one relevant framework available via the Procurement Hub to meet our 
current procurement requirements which can be found in Appendix 4.  

3.10 The Public Services (Social Value) Act came into force on 31 January 2013. It 
requires those who commission public services to think about how they can also 
secure wider social, economic and environmental benefits. Prospective 
contractors will be asked as part of the tender process to outline what social value 
commitments they could bring to GBC if they are successful. 

Following the 2018-2019 round of re-procurement financial commitments were 
secured in excess of £30K which funded several community events and the ‘Your 
Borough’ publication. In addition employability skills such as work placements 
were offered as well as free training to council staff. Any social value financial 
pledges made from this round of procurement will be retained by DSO Building 
Management to be used for projects within the housing service.   

3.11 As part of the procurement process a specific question around carbon neutrality 
will be included in the Invitation to Tender (ITT) issued to all prospective 
contractors. They will be required to confirm details of their own commitments or 
declaration and demonstrate how those commitments will be achieved. In addition 
to this, should they be successful in being awarded a contract with Gravesham 
they will be asked how they will contribute to Gravesham’s own target of being 
carbon neutral by 2030 (i.e. what energy efficiency measures can they bring, use 
of different materials, reduction in travelling etc).

4. Scope of Works and Awarding Contracts

4.1 Gravesham Borough Council has committed to a five year rolling programme of 
stock condition surveys. This means that every year, we will instruct independent 
surveyors to survey 20% of our stock against set criteria to ensure it is in the best 
possible condition. This data is then used to plan our future investment 
programmes and the Council’s financial resources. When surveying properties, 
surveyors will check key components within and around the property that have a 
predefined minimum life expectancy.

4.2 One of the business tools utilised to ensure GBC meets its obligations is the use 
of an asset management database, the one employed by GBC is called Keystone. 
The Keystone Asset Management database is designed to hold comprehensive 
data about our assets; assets defined as properties, sites, units, essentially our 
housing stock.

4.3 This information is used to meet a number of business needs at both operational 
and strategic levels. Operationally, Capital Works Programmes are being 
produced from Keystone. Strategically, data held is being used to formulate 30 
year plans to determine budget funding required to maintain housing stock at 
decent homes standard. It is capable of producing; forecasts over defined 
timescales taking into account inflation and various scenarios to inform our future 
lending requirements. 

4.4 It is the combination of the stock condition surveys coupled with Keystone asset 
database information which formulates the programmes of works and the 
estimated budgets required over the coming four year cycles. 

4.5 The Asset Management Team are actively developing a scope of 
works/specifications for each area of work as outlined in Section 2 of this report, 
working closely with the respective frameworks to develop Procurement Project 

Page 89



6

Plans which will help to identify the most suitable contractors for those works as 
set within specified lots within the available frameworks already referred to. 

4.6 When a contractor is identified from one of the pre-tendered lots, an initial 
expression of interest is made to ensure they are suitable and can undertake the 
works required at a competitive price.  At this point a mini-tender exercise will be 
conducted.  This is all managed by the framework provider in conjunction with 
council officers. 

4.7 Once this process has been completed and a contractor selected, our shared 
Legal Services section will draft contracts on behalf of the council to enter into a 
formal contract, which will be checked and verified by the legal team.  The 
arrangements will then be confirmed by the Director (Housing & Operations) in 
conjunction with Director (Corporate Services), Monitoring Officer and Lead 
Member who will authorise the signing the contracts.  

4.8 To ensure competitiveness, contracts will be let for a set period, with possible 
extensions agreed annually based on satisfactory performance by the contractor 
via agreed Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s). This approach will facilitate 
proactive contract management and will help ensure that contractors perform well 
throughout the duration of their contract with the council. 

5. Tenants and leaseholders

5.1 In accordance with Section 20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985, as amended 
by the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002, landlords are required to 
give notice to leaseholders and recognised tenants’ associations of their intention 
to enter into ‘long term agreements’.  These are agreements entered into by or on 
behalf of a landlord for a term of more than 12 months and therefore officers will 
ensure that the required notice is given to leaseholders by the council as landlord 
in respect of the procurement contracts outlined in this report.

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 None. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 90



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Landlords have a statutory duty to maintain and repair property assets and to 
ensure leaseholder engagement throughout the procurement process.
Contracts will be secured through the pre-tendered frameworks which have been 
procured in accordance with domestic and European legislation

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The projected spends covers both Capital and Revenue budgets within the HRA 
account and are currently estimated within the HRA Business Plan as follows:
Doors & Windows - £850,000 (Capital) pa over a 4 year contract.
Electrical Testing - £1,064,000 (Capital) pa over a 2 year period.
Passenger Lifts - £200,000 (Capital - £150,000) & (Revenue - £50,000) pa over a 4 
year period.
Door Entry - £130,000 (Capital - £65,000) & (Revenue - £65,000) pa over a 4 year 
period
Fire Alarms - £50,000 (Revenue) pa over a 4 year period
Warden Call - £100,000 (Capital - £60,000) & (Revenue - £40,000) pa over a 4 year 
period
Sitex - £64,000 (Revenue) pa over a 4 year period
Water mains & drainage £200,000 (Capital) pa over a 4 year period
Aggregated buying power via the various Frameworks delivers competitive pricing 
and value for money

Risk Assessment The use of procurement frameworks such as those developed by SEC, LHC and 
Procurement Hub significantly reduces risk to the council. In addition the GBC 
Procurement Strategy 2017-2020 actively encourages the use of frameworks for 
procurement.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
Confirmed that successful contractors will be required to enter into a Data 
Sharing Agreement as part of the contract

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 91

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


8

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan PEOPLE: Protected Environment - Enforce high regulatory requirements
PEOPLE: Quality Living - Safeguard residents
PEOPLE: Quality Living - Put our customers first
PLACE: Connected Community - Improve resident well-being
PROGRESS:  Entrepreneurial authority - Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost 
effective council
PROGRESS: Strong Leadership - Sound financial management 
PROGRESS: Strong Leadership - Successfully manage key business risks

Crime and Disorder  N/A

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 92



Appendix 2 - Current Contracts

South East Consortium
Contractor and 
Area of Work

SEC Frame Work Details Procurement 
Method

Contract Period and 
expiry

Annual 
Capital 
Spend

(£)

Annual 
Revenue

Spend
(£)

Annual 
Total 

Spend 
(£)

Total Value 
(with 

extensions)
(£)

Sovereign

(Doors & 
Windows)

Internal & External Works
OJEU Ref 2015S122 223 532
Awarded 23/11/2015 Expires 
22/11/2019
Lot 3: Windows and Doors

Mini Tender Two years, with two one 
year extensions subject 
to performance
(4 years) – Expiry May 
2020

600,000 600,000 2,400,000

Smith & Byford

(Electrical 
Testing)

Internal & External Works
OJEU Ref 2015S122 223 532
Awarded 23/11/2015 Expires 
22/11/2019
Lot 5: Electrical Testing, Remedial 
Works and Re-wiring

Mini Tender Two years, with two one 
year extensions subject 
to performance
(4 years) – Expiry May 
2020

600,000 600,000 2,400,000

Express Lift 
Alliance

(Passenger Lifts)

Lifts
(Awarded: 22/1/2016/Expires: 
21/1/2020)
OJEU Ref 2015/S 208-378041. Lot 
1: Passenger Lifts

Mini Tender Two years, with two one 
year extensions subject 
to performance
(4 years) – Expiry July 
2020

150,000 150,000 600,000

SEA Ltd

(Door Entry 
Systems)

Access  Control Systems
(Awarded 14/11/2015/Expires 
13/11/2019)
OJEU Ref 2015/S 099-180443
Lot 1: Door Entry Systems

Mini Tender Two years, with two one 
year extensions subject 
to performance
(4 years) – Expiry June 
2020

20,000 40,000 60,000 240,000

Multifire

(Fire Alarms  & 
Emergency 
Lighting) 

Access  Control Systems
(Awarded 14/11/2015 Expires 
13/11/2019)
OJEU Ref 2015/S 099-180443
Lot 2: Fire and Intruder Alarms and 
Emergency Lighting

Mini Tender Two years, with two one 
year extensions subject 
to performance
(4 years) – Expiry June 
2020

60,000 60,000 240,000

SEA Ltd

(Warden Call)

Access  Control Systems
(Awarded 14/11/2015 Expires 
13/11/2019)
OJEU Ref 2015/S 099-180443
Lot 3: Warden Call Systems

Mini Tender Two years, with two one 
year extensions subject 
to performance
(4 years) – Expiry June 
2020

30,000 30,000 120,000

P
age 93



Appendix 2 - Current Contracts

London Housing Consortium
Contractor and 
Area of Work

LHC Frame Work Details Procurement 
Method

Contract Period and 
expiry

Annual 
Capital 
Spend

(£)

Annual 
Revenue

Spend
(£)

Annual 
Total 

Spend 
(£)

Total Value 
(with 

extensions)
(£)

Orbis

(Sitex)

Framework Agreement 7
Vacant Property Protection, 
Clearance, Cleaning and 
Maintenance
(Awarded: 1/7/2018/Expires: 
30/06/2022)
OJEU Ref CAN 2018- OJS147-
337631

Direct Call Off Two years, with two one 
year extensions subject 
to performance
(4 years)

Expires October 2019

44,000 44,000 176,000

P
age 94



APPENDIX 3 – PROPOSED CONTRACTS

South East Consortium (SEC)
Area of 
Work

SEC Frame Work Details Procurement 
Method

Contract Period Annual 
Capital 
Spend

(£)

Annual 
Revenue

Spend
(£)

Annual 
Total 

Spend 
(£)

Total Value 
(with 

extensions)
(£)

Window & 
Door 
Replacement

Internal & External Works
(Awarded: target w/c 14/10/2019)
OJEU Ref 2019/S 078-184728
Lot 3: Windows & Doors

Mini Tender Two years, with two 
one year extensions 
subject to 
performance
(4 years)

850,000 850,000 3,400,000

Electrical 
Testing

Internal & External Works
(Awarded: target w/c 14/10/2019)
OJEU Ref 2019/S 078-184728
Lot 5: Electrical Testing, Remedial 
Works & Re-wiring

Mini Tender One year, with a one 
year extension 
subject to 
performance
(2 years)

1,064,000 1,064,000 2,128,000

Passenger 
Lifts

Lifts
(Awarded: 22/1/2016/Expires: 
21/1/2020)
OJEU Ref 2015/S 208-378041. Lot 1: 
Passenger Lifts

Mini Tender Two years, with two 
one year extensions 
subject to 
performance
(4 years)

150,000 50,000 200,000 800,000

Door Entry Access Control Systems 
(Due to tender: wc 14th October 2019)
OJEU Ref TBC
Lot 1: Door Entry Systems

Mini Tender Two years, with two 
one year extensions 
subject to 
performance
(4 years)

65,000 65,000 130,000 520,000

Fire Alarms Access Control Systems 
(Due to tender: wc 14th October 2019)
OJEU Ref TBC
Lot 2: Fire and Intruder Alarms and 
Emergency Lighting

Mini Tender Two years, with two 
one year extensions 
subject to 
performance
(4 years)

50,000 50,000 200,000

Warden Call Access Control Systems 
(Due to tender: wc 14th October 2019)
OJEU Ref TBC
Lot 3: Warden Call Systems

Mini Tender Two years, with two 
one year extensions 
subject to 
performance
(4 years)

60,000 40,000 100,000 400,000

P
age 95



APPENDIX 3 – PROPOSED CONTRACTS

London Housing Consortium (LHC)
Area of 
Work

LHC Frame Work Details Procurement 
Method

Contract Period Annual 
Capital 
Spend

(£)

Annual 
Revenue

Spend
(£)

Annual 
Total 

Spend 
(£)

Total Value 
(with 

extensions)
(£)

Sitex Framework Agreement 7
Vacant Property Protection, Clearance, 
Cleaning and Maintenance
(Awarded: 1/7/2018/Expires: 
30/06/2022)
OJEU Ref CAN 2018- OJS147-337631 

Mini Tender Two years, with two 
one year extensions 
subject to 
performance
(4 years)

64,000 64,000 256,,000

Procurement Hub
Area of 
Work

Procurement Hub
Frame Work Details

Procurement 
Method

Contract Period Annual 
Capital 
Spend

(£)

Annual 
Revenue

Spend
(£)

Annual 
Total 

Spend 
(£)

Total Value 
(with 

extensions)
(£)

Water Mains 
& Drainage

Specialist Contractors DPS
 (Awarded: 19/12/2018/Expires: 
16/12/2028)
OJEU Ref 2018/S 210-480140 

Mini Tender Two years, with two 
one year extensions 
subject to 
performance
(4 years)

200,000 200,000 800,000

 

P
age 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



1

Gravesham Joint Transportation Board

Wednesday, 11 September 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Colin Caller (Chair)
County Councillor Alan Michael Ridgers (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis
Peter Scollard
Bob Lane
John Burden (KCC)
Lauren Sullivan (KCC)
Bryan Sweetland (KCC)

Also in attendance:: Cllrs Nirmal Khabra, Brian Sangha and Steve Thompson.

Kevin Gore District Manager – Gravesham (KCC)
Nick May Parking Services Manager (GBC)
Richard Shelton Project Manager - Major Capital Programme Team (KCC)
Annette Bonner Project Manager - Major Capital Programme Team (KCC)
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

116. Chair's Announcement 

The Chair noted that since the elections in May there had been a number of issues that had 
been bought to the attention of the Board. The Chair intended that an email be sent to all 
Members, all County Councillors for Gravesham and Parish Council Chairs reminding them 
that bringing issues to the attention of the Board was a last resort. In the first instance, 
issues should be brought to the attention of the appropriate KCC or GBC officer. The 
proposed email would include the contact details of appropriate officers. If no response or an 
unsatisfactory response was received, then it should be bought to the attention of the ward 
Councillor, or appropriate County Councillor (if this had not already happened), only then 
should it be bought to the attention of the Board. The item “Any Other Business which by 
reason of special circumstances the Chair is of the opinion should be considered as a matter 
of urgency” should only be used for urgent matters for example, the accidents at The Hill, 
Northfleet which had involved a death and injuries to members of the public and had only 
happened just before the last meeting of the Board. The Chair would be strictly applying this 
interpretation at future meetings. The Chair also asked that the Committee Section 
(committee.section@gravesham/.gov.uk) be copied in to any emails to the Chair requesting 
that an item be placed on the agenda.

The Chair had also noted that there was no mechanism with regard to Matters Arising and 
he proposed the addition of an item on the agenda for the report back of items raised at 
previous meetings and this would include bullet points from previous minutes.

Page 113 Agenda Item 11

mailto:committee.section@gravesham/.gov.uk


Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

2

117. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Leslie Hills and Kent County Cllr Diane 
Marsh.

118. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 5 June 2019 were signed by the Chair.

119. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda.   When declaring an interest members should state what 
their interest is. 

Cllr Nirmal Khabra declared a voluntary other interest in that he was a registered Hackney 
Carriage Driver in the Borough of Gravesham.

120. Redroute buses 

In the absence of Mr Jason Mee - Director (Transport Operative) for RedRoute Buses, the 
Chair deferred this item to the next meeting of the Board.

121. Bus Hub, Barrack Row and Garrick Street, Gravesend (For Information) 

Richard Shelton, one of the Project Managers from the Major Capital Programme Team from 
KCC Highways introduced himself as the technical support officer for the Barrack Row and 
Garrick Street Bus Hub in Gravesend. The Board was apprised of the outstanding key areas 
of the project which included the proposed layout. It had originally been proposed that old 
bus shelter and bus stop furniture would be re-used. However, Garrick Street would need a 
Fastrack canopy system as it was the intention to use two Fastrack buses with the Arriva 
services using Barrack Row. The Board was referred to the officer’s report which set out 
details of the project.

The following comments were made in relation to this subject:

 A request was made that taxis be allowed to go through the Bus Hub. It was 
explained that when clients were dropped off at the railway station, drivers had to 
travel round the long way to return to the rank. The same applied when collecting 
passengers at the station as they had to pay more for their taxi service because of 
the road layout. It was confirmed that taxis would not be allowed to use the Bus Hub. 
However, the officer undertook to look into this matter and would report back to the 
Board. However, there had been some concern about the number of taxis this would 
involve and the impact on the Hub,

 It was noted that queueing traffic on Darnley Road caused by abuse of the bus gate 
at the junction with Barrack Row and the layout of the associated roads meant there 
was additional pollution. It was suggested that taxis should be allowed to turn into 
Darnley Road. The Board was advised that Kent County Council was aware that 
there has been regular abuse of the bus gate that was putting additional demand on 

Page 114



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

3

the traffic light systems that were not working efficiently for traffic on the Ring Road. 
Consideration was being given how best to enforce the bus gate to assist with traffic 
flow. The officer advised that a detailed design was being produced and he would 
submit it to a future meeting of the Board. The layout of the Bus Hub had been 
challenging, especially fitting all required bus stops onto the site which had not been 
possible in such a limited area which also had to include adequate waiting areas for 
pedestrians, seating and soft landscaping.

 Enforcement had been mentioned and the issue experienced by car drivers in 
Chelmsford was raised. Enforcement cameras had been installed into a bus lane in 
Chelmsford and approximately 5,000 motorists had been fined in the 25 days after 
installation. This had led to criticism of Essex County Council in relation to 
inadequate signage. Officers were urged to consider signage when installing 
enforcement cameras.

 An issue was raised on how long the beautiful design of the Bus Hub would last if 
such things as the possibility of public toilets on the site was not factored into the 
design. It was noted there was an issue about who would maintain the public toilet if 
one were to be built on the site now or in the future. The Clive Road facility had been 
closed by the Borough Council. Arriva was considering whether this was something 
they could take on board but it was likely to only be toilets and a restroom for Arriva 
staff. It was noted that the Clive Road facility had been closed due to antisocial 
behaviour issues. However, it was a popular location because of the proximity of the 
Railway Station and the Bus Hub. It was suggested that the possibility of a future 
tram system should also be taken into account together with use by the walking 
public. Officers were asked to consider the possible future inclusion of a toilet facility, 
its possible location and who might offer to maintain the facility. 

 The Chair raised the issue with the markings at the end of Clive Road as there was 
nothing to stop motorists doing a U-turn if they did not want to use the Anglesey 
Centre.

Resolved that the report be noted.

122. The Crossing outside the Meopham Academy, Longfield Road, 
Meopham - Requested by Cllr Frank Wardle 

It was noted that Cllr Wardle was not present. It was requested that if a Member requested 
an item be included on the Board’s agenda then that Councillor should ensure they were 
present at the meeting.

County Cllr Sweetland advised that an issue with the location of the crossing outside the 
Meopham Academy had been raised because of the proximity to the corner of Longfield 
Road and Wrotham Road. Some cars were coming around the corner faster than they 
should and were subsequently unable to stop in time before reaching the crossing. 

The Board was advised that cars exiting the A227 travelled quickly. However, the problems 
were mostly experienced at the Academy’s drop off and pick up times. The crossing would 
be difficult to move as another, less risky location was difficult to identify not to mention the 
cost implication. The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) reported he had asked the 
Planning Team to look into this matter. The Chair asked that the District Manager – 
Gravesham (KCC) report any findings direct to County Cllr Sweetland and Cllr Wardle.

Page 115



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

4

123. Parking Outside Shorne Woods Country Park - Requested by Cllr Bob 
Lane 

Cllr Lane reminded the Board that Park Pale had been built to provide access to an industrial 
site which was currently being used by Harlech Haulage Ltd and the golf club. The road had 
a traffic order in place to prohibit access and there were also parking restrictions on Brewers 
Road.  The users of Shorne Country Park preferred to park on the road rather than use the 
Park carpark where they had to pay parking fees. Car parking on the road caused it to 
become single track which was exacerbated by the size of the Harlech Haulage trucks. 
Parking restrictions were not enforced even though there had been a proposal to extend. It 
was noted that Kent and Gravesham Council officers had attended a meeting held two 
months ago with Harlech Haulage, Shorne Parish Council and Kent Police.

The Parking Services Manager advised that there was a Traffic Regulation Order in place on 
Park Pale in relation to a moving traffic restriction (access only) that was implemented by 
KCC Highways in 1989 and was the enforcement responsibility of the Kent Police who were 
not known for enforcement of access restrictions, as this type of issue was not a high priority 
mainly due to resources. However, the double yellow lines in Park Pale and Brewers Road 
fall within the remit of the Borough Council’s Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs) to enforce. 
On receiving an email from Cllr Lane just before the last Board meeting in June, CEOs had 
been sent to check on the area two to three times a week and every Saturday and Sunday 
especially throughout the school summer holiday. It was noted that the double yellow lines 
had become very faint to the point of being invisible. As a result the lines had been repainted 
and since then, cars had not been seen parked on the double yellow lines when the CEOs 
had been in the area patrolling.

Parish Cllr Lindley advised that the principal problem was a safety issue as HGVs were 
using the road at the same time as pedestrians which included children and dogs. Staff at 
Harlech Haulage had expressed concern as they felt they may be held responsible in the 
event of an accident.

Following a question on the possibility of sending statistical information to parish councils on 
the date, time and location of Traffic Enforcement Officer’s visits to individual parishes, the 
Parking Services Manager advised that this information was not recorded unless the officer 
was ticketing a vehicle or was recording a visit to a time limited bay. Detailed recording 
would be very difficult due to the high level of detail needed and would take a high level of 
resources to download and plot GPS data. CEOs attended a daily briefing to plot their routes 
and to take account of any new issues raised. A record could be made of targeted areas but 
not for the wider Gravesham area as there would be too much information to record.

A suggestion was made that Parish Councils could offer to contribute via the Parish Council 
precept, to the funding of the whole of or a percentage of a CEO’s time as this service had a 
finite resource and would already divert resources to reported issues. If the parishes wanted 
more of the CEO’s time, then they would have to pay more. A reply was made that Parish 
Councils would need to know how much of the service they were allocated before a decision 
could be made on how much more of the service was required.

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) noted that the issue with installing double yellow 
lines was that sometimes it rendered the road in question a raceway.

The Chair asked the Parking Services Manager to take away the ideas raised for 
consideration.

Page 116



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

5

124. Corner Protection (Yellow Lines) at the junction of Cob Drive and Forge 
Lane - Requested by Cllr Bob Lane 

Cllr Lane recognised that there were always traffic and parking issues outside schools. 
However, these particular issues meant that access on the main road into Shorne village 
was often blocked. Double yellow lines had been proposed in three areas and two had been 
agreed. Cllr Lane asked that the two agreed areas be implemented as nothing more had 
been done and also that the third option be reconsidered.

The Chair reminded Members that this question should have been put to officers before 
being bought to the attention of the Board.

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that the issue was being looked into and 
it was intended that residents be consulted as parking in the village was already limited.  
County Cllr Sweetland asked that Kent Highways be consistent as six months ago, KCC had 
issued an edict that no more double yellow lines would be installed on street/road corners. 
The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) responded that a safety perspective would always 
be taken into account. The Highway Code stated that parking within 10 metres of a street 
corner was enforceable by the police although this was not a priority and police had the 
same finite resources being experienced by local government. It was noted that the police 
did not carry Fixed Penalty Notice books in their vehicles.

County Cllr Burden reminded the Board that last year the Government increased funding to 
increase police numbers. In addition, the Borough Council used to have an understanding 
with the Kent Police and other appropriate teams such as Environmental Services to enable 
them to swap out of hours powers. A question was raised as to whether this might still be a 
possibility.

County Cllr Sweetland advised he had a Member Highways Grant and would be happy to 
use this resource to pay for the installation of double yellow lines on the corner at the 
junction of Cob Lane and Forge Lane in Shorne. However, he only made this offer if the 
work could be carried out within a reasonable timescale of 4 months.

125. Regular Parking Enforcement - Requested by Cllr Bob Lane 

Cllr Lane noted that this subject had already been discussed and he would await information 
from the Parking Services Manager in relation to CEO visits to parishes.

126. Parrock Road, Gravesend - Speeding - Requested by Cllrs Marsh and 
Thompson 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) reported that a request for the installation of lines 
and bollards had been passed to the contractor together with the requirement for increased 
candela and the work should be completed within the next three months.

Cllr Thompson, who referred this issue to the Board, reported that he was very disappointed 
as, at its last meeting, the Board had agreed that the District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) 
would conduct a full review of this stretch of road and bring all the possible solutions/options 
to make the road safer back to this meeting of the Board.

Page 117



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

6

The Chair requested that officers bring a formal report to the next meeting of the Board. The 
District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) agreed to this request and offered to invite the 
appropriate officers from Kent County Council to attend the meeting.

127. The Hill, Northfleet - Speeding issues and Accidents - Requested by Cllr 
Scollard 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) reported that he had attended a meeting on the 
site with County Cllr Whiting, the Cabinet Member for Planning, Highways, Transport and 
Waste and County Cllr Sullivan. Plans had been put forward which included the increase 
and alteration of lining and refreshing the candela (creating a rumble strip effect). Plans had 
since been sent to the appropriate officer for implementation. This site also fitted the criteria 
for a safety camera which might take up to six months to installed should it be approved.

The Board noted that the decision to install a safety camera on this site would fall within the 
remit of the Kent Community Safety Partnership. The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) 
agreed to share the appropriate officer’s contact details with County Cllr Sullivan.

A 20mph speed limit had been discussed at the site meeting but had not been favoured by 
the Cabinet Member. It was noted that Kent Police preferred not to enforce 20mph speed 
limits. However, a 20mph limit during school run times had been discussed. 

128. Highway Works Programme 2019/20 onwards 

The Board was presented with a report that provided an update on identified schemes 
approved for construction in 2019/20.

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that:

 the footway improvement scheme at Newmans Road was now complete.

 Following the flagging of replacing flagstone with tarmac in the town centre, the use 
of a new system of concrete slabs printed with a flagstone pattern was to be used 
instead. All utility companies were on board with this suggestions and a report would 
be submitted to the next meeting of the Board on this subject together with samples 
and photos.

With regard to the replacement of flagstones in the town centre, County Cllr Burden 
expressed concern as to what would be used to replace the concrete system when 
they had to be lifted. IT was explained that it was intended to keep a stock of 
replacements so the slabs could be replaced like for like.

Cllr Scollard asked why unbroken flagstones could not be re-used and rebedded. 
Some of the slabs in the town centre had been there for a long time and were part of 
the town’s heritage. The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained that the old 
slabs often constituted a trip hazard and it was KCC’s policy to replace them. The 
new concrete print system would be trialled outside Tesco’s.

 The street lighting at the Pepper Hill Roundabout had been largely resolved with only 
four lighting columns now not working. 

Page 118



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

7

The Vice-Chair reported that on driving past the roundabout last night, 17 streetlights 
had been out including the signage uplighters on the Pepperhill Roundabout. Some 
of the streetlights on the A2 slip roads were also not working but this was 
acknowledged to be the responsibility of Highways England. The District Manager – 
Gravesham (KCC) undertook to check this issue again.

 KCC and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation were trying to find out who was the 
responsible for the lighting at Church Path, Northfleet as they were not on the KCC 
asset list.

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) was advised that this had been 
implemented by former County Cllr Leslie Christie and it remained a KCC footpath 
and he agreed to follow up of this matter.

 The meeting with Cllr Hills had not yet taken place in relation to the Lion roundabout.

 The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) and the Parking Services Manager had 
visited Ebbsfleet United Football Stadium in relation to commuter parking. 

County Cllr Burden reported that a juggernaut and its trailer had been permanently 
parked outside the stadium. The Dutch owners (identified by the name on the truck) 
had been contacted but had denied ownership. KCC and Kent Police refused to take 
any action. The location of the parked truck was causing chaos with vehicles trying to 
access the site. The Parking Services Manager offered to pass the issue onto the 
GBC Waste Management Team. The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) noted 
that if informed, Kent Police would track down the owners. 

 The application for a BP Petrol Station at Tollgate had been rejected by the Council 
and would now be considered by a Planning Enquiry.

 KCC would be progressing Wimbourne House.

 The works to make Salisbury Road/Cecil Road/Northcote Road into one-way traffic 
should be complete.

County Cllr Sullivan reported that there had been a week of confusion after 
completion in that the signs had been installed but not lit, a sign was missing from 
Salisbury Road and another was too close to a building to enable good visibility. It 
was suggested that this sign be moved to the other side of the road.

Following a question from the Chair, the District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that 
the rollout of the new centrally controlled LEDs and auto fault reporting system was nearly 
complete and he undertook to get an update for the Chair from the Project Manager Richard 
Emmett.

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) undertook to provide the Board with a report on 
the progress of smaller works twice a year starting with the next meeting in November 2019.

Page 119



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

8

129. Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

None.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.08 pm

Page 120



1

Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee

Thursday, 10 October 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Steve Thompson (Chair)
Cllr Baljit Hayre (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Ejaz Aslam
John Caller
Aaron Elliott
Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Nirmal Khabra
Emma Morley
Leslie Pearton
Lauren Sullivan
Frank Wardle

Note: Councillor: Shane Mochrie-Cox (Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure was 
also in attendance

Chief Inspector Neil Loudon Kent Police
Inspector Craig West Kent Police

Simon Hookway Assistant Director (Communities)
Kath Donald Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit)
Sean Steer Community Safety Operations Manager
Chris Wakeford Committee Services Officer (minutes)

64. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Gurjit Kaur Bains.

65. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 2 April 2019 were signed by the Chair.

66. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Leslie Pearton declared an “Other Interest” in Item 6, Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Strategy 2019-22 as his daughter was a Prison Officer based at 
Cookham Wood.

Page 121 Agenda Item 12



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 10.10.2019

2

67. Terms of Reference - Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee 

The Assistant Director (Communities) presented the Committee with the Terms of reference 
for the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee.

The Chair explained that the minutes of the Committee were reported to Full Council and 
could be reserved for discussion.

The Committee noted the Terms of Reference.

68. Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019-22 

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) provided Members with details of key work 
that had been undertaken during the period April-September 2019 or that was planned for 
delivery this year in addressing the strategic priorities identified in the Dartford and 
Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019-22.

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) fielded questions from the Committee and 
highlighted the following:

 To support the work of the Community Safety Partnership the internal community safety 
budget of £15,000 is utilised. There is also the Police and Crime Commissioner 
Community Safety Fund of c.£34,000 which the partnership bids for each year, however; 
the areas the money is spent on has to meet criteria of the PCC i.e. contribute towards 
the priorities in the Policing and Crime Plan and not overlap/duplicate work already 
funded by the PCC. The Community Safety Unit (CSU) also bids for external funding e.g. 
from the Home Office and Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government.

 The Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019-22 is meant to be a 
broader document rather than an action plan. Further detail on what actions have taken 
place will be reported to the relevant Cabinet Committee.

 The Community Safety Unit are working closely with KCC and the Waste Management 
Team at GBC to tackle fly-tipping and other environmental crimes.

 There have been a couple of ‘Cuckooing’ cases in the Borough. A multi-agency 
approach has proved very successful and the victims have been well supported.

 Priority 2 has a focus on continuing to reduce ASB incidents by taking a holistic 
approach in each case looking at any underlining issues which need to be addressed. 
This involves looking at the causes of ASB and what drives that behaviour.

 The Community Safety Priorities - Public Opinion Survey was widely promoted and 
community groups were targeted. However, the response from ethnic minorities was 
quite low and the method of community engagement will be reviewed for the next 
consultation.

The Committee noted the report and thanked the Community Safety Unit and Community 
Safety Partnership for a really good strategy.

69. Mid-Year Position 2019-20 - Progress and Performance Report 

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) provided Members with details of key work 
that has been undertaken during the period April-September 2019 or that is planned for 

Page 122



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 10.10.2019

3

delivery this year in addressing the strategic priorities identified in the Dartford and 
Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019-22.

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) highlighted the following:

 In Gravesham, a total of 5,370 offences were recorded between April-August 2019 
compared to 5,915 offences in the previous year – a drop of 9.2% (545 fewer crimes). 
This compares to an average decrease across Kent and Medway of 8.8%.

 In the time periods considered, violent crime (comprised of violence against the person,
sexual and robbery offences) has reduced by 7.3% or 190 fewer crimes from 2,610 to 
2,420 offences.

 Overall the Total Crime by Offence Category table on page 41 shows decreases against 
most of the offence categories apart from vehicle crime and ASB which have seen a 
slight increase.

 The Altogether Safer – Reducing Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) Project
has been funded by the Home Office, having been awarded c.£248,000 over three years 
(including additional funding awarded in 2018-19) from the VAWG Transformation Fund.
Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVAs) have been introduced at North Kent
Police Station since late 2017 for 12 hours per week. The intention is to provide victims
with expert support and advice at the right time, reducing the risk of repeat victimisation 
and prosecution withdrawals. The OOHs IDVAs have supported 232 adult victims during
that time who between them had 306 children who would have potentially witnessed or
experienced some of the consequences of domestic abuse in the home.

 Choose Respect Programme: A target of 70% was set against each of the following 
measures – end assessments demonstrating these were exceeded for each indicator 
with the following results:
- 100% were able to identify respect, honesty and empathy as helpful for effective

communication;
- 100% now had the ability to be assertive (i.e. not to bow to peer pressure to behave 

in a particular way);
- 100% agreed their aggression had decreased;
- 100% were able to identify 3/+ healthy behaviours;
- 100% felt their understanding of feelings had increased;
- 100% felt able to identify strategies for managing feelings as a result of Choose 

Respect;
- 98% were able to identify relationship skills/factors including self-esteem, 

assertiveness and healthy boundaries;
- 92% felt their ability to cope with stressful situations had increased;
- 87% were able to identify that abuse occurs in relationships because of power and 

control;
- 78% felt feelings of anxiety and worry had decreased.

 KECC and Rethink have organised and delivered a range of community engagement 
events, used as opportunities to open discussions about VAWG issues and increase 
awareness of services. A major initiative has been the delivery of an annual women and 
girls only conference and social event – the latest having just taken place in September 
2019. The Sadi Awaz Suno (Listen to our Voices) event has been incredibly successful: 
the original target of 150-200 attendees has been totally exceeded with approximately 
300 local women and girls in attendance each time, ranging from grandmothers for 
whom English is their second language to young professionals and newly-arrived brides 
from the Indian sub-continent.

Page 123



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 10.10.2019

4

The first conference concentrated on the issues of: honour-based crime and on-line 
grooming; DA and the use of social media; mental health and well-being; dealing with 
child disability; positive female role models; and the promotion of services.
The 2018 conference focused on the taboo issue of alcohol misuse /dependency, its 
impact on relationships and harm caused by the cultural practice of staying silent.
This year’s conference considered modern slavery and trafficking, Female Genital 
Mutilation (FGM), alcohol misuse and mental health. Interpreters and translators were 
present throughout to encourage audience participation in discussion. The conferences 
have received considerable publicity locally, generating debate about these issues. 
This limb of the Project has also seen the creation of several short film clips (the final 
one will be created before the end of March 2020) used to raise awareness of services. 
The first was written, filmed and edited by KEEC colleagues but importantly, all of its cast 
are local women and girls who volunteered their time. This has been shown at various 
community events and is available as a tool to initiate group discussion. The second 
talks about the extent of domestic abuse and particularly how it affects BAME 
communities and provides details of support services. Members can view the film clips 
by following the links in the report.

 A successful bid prepared by Gravesham CSU and submitted to the MHCLG’s Domestic 
Abuse Services Fund was awarded £137,880 to deliver the Step Change Project. This 
new initiative, being delivered by Choices Domestic Abuse Services provides specialist 
DA workers to give intensive, ‘wrap-around-the family’ support to victims with complex 
needs and victims from hard to reach groups across Dartford and Gravesham. The 
target is 40 and 41 people have been supported already.

The Community Safety Operations Manager highlighted the following:

 Safer Place Officers: currently in the process of recruiting 2 new officers, this will bring 
the Team to a total of 5 officers that will enable them to cover wider areas in the 
Borough.

 Fixed Penalty Notices are being issued for littering; 5 cases were in court this week (one 
was withdrawn as the payment was made, 3 were fined £200 and 1 pleaded guilty and 
was fined £147).

 The team are working with Porchlight to support homeless people.
 15 damaged or inoperative telephone boxes have been reported to BT.
 The team check trade waste agreements and street peddler licences.
 Cyclists are being asked to dismount and walk in New Road.
 Rough Sleeper Initiative: working with GBC’s housing team, Kent Police, Porchlight, 

Probation, Look Ahead Housing & Care and other housing providers in order to find 
support and accommodation for rough sleepers.

 Tackling Seasonal ASB: there will be a Community Safety pop-up shop in December in 
the town centre looking at fire safety, purse dipping prevention advice etc.

Chief Inspector Neil Loudon and Inspector Craig West highlighted the following:

 Joint working between all the members of Gravesham’s Organised Crime Group (OCG) 
has continued to be very effective. The Group meets on a monthly basis and there have 
been some positive outcomes:
- Principal member of one of our first OCGs is now serving a lengthy prison sentence 

(smuggling of people and importing/trading in high-end vehicles);
- Considerable disruption caused to a further OCG and linked multi-agency activity has 

led to considerable work involving Licensing, HMRC, Police and Trading Standards 

Page 124



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 10.10.2019

5

resulting in the seizing of significant quantities of illegal tobacco. Information-sharing 
took place over a number of months that made a positive contribution to coordinated 
activity that took place targeting particular locations and premises in Gravesend and 
Northfleet in May this year. Approximately 60,000 illegal cigarettes were seized worth 
an estimated £22,500 in duty and VAT evaded. Further activity in July this year 
resulted in 6 arrests being made, 3 individuals involved in supplying/selling illegal 
cigarettes being from Gravesend and receiving custodial sentences.

- Investigations into one suspected OCG did find a number of people believed to be 
being used for labour exploitation. Although adults in the group did not want action to 
be taken, a 16-year-old Bulgarian male was taken to a safe house.

 Gravesham Vulnerability Panel – this is the key multi-agency vehicle (Kent Police-led) 
that works to safeguard identified vulnerable adults (excluding homeless individuals who 
are supported through the Rough Sleeper Initiative Group mentioned above). The Panel 
has an extensive membership from a range of statutory and voluntary sector agencies 
and is attended by representatives across Council Departments. Referrals of adults with 
a variety of complex needs who are not engaging effectively with service providers are 
made to the Panel who will then consider appropriate support and interventions for them. 
The Panel meets on a monthly basis and has successfully dealt with a number of cases 
(6 cases were able to be closed at the last meeting in September), 2 new referrals has 
been received and 1 case continues to be monitored.

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit), The Community Safety Operations 
Manager, Chief Inspector Neil Loudon and Inspector Craig West fielded questions from the 
Committee and highlighted the following:

 Part of the Altogether Stronger Project includes further developing promotional/marketing 
materials to be used in engagement events well as through other community-based 
activity to address hate crime. We will also be arranging training sessions for key staff 
(and Members) on recognising extremism/extremist behaviour which presents itself as 
hate crime and how to signpost and better support victims that may report to the Council.
Kent Police are running various events to promote National Hate Crime Awareness 
Week (12 to 19 October 2019).

 Safer Place Officers do not pursue or harass people who litter; their role involves talking 
to people and educating them but they will issue fines where deemed appropriate.

 Kent Police have seen an increase in people reporting crime. Kent Police cannot capture 
crime reporting from social media sites but there is a live chat service available as well 
as the 101 service and Crime Stoppers.

 Kent Police are currently engaged in a large recruitment drive with 942 new officers in 
North Kent but around 250 officers are lost every couple of months due to retirement etc. 
and officers joining the Metropolitan Police Service.

 GBC do work with KCC in tackling domestic abuse (KCC has lead responsibility for the 
commissioned domestic abuse services in our area). The Strategic Manager 
(Community Safety Unit) agreed to provide Members of the Committee with the latest 
figures relating to those using/benefiting from the commissioned services for this 
matter.(subject to the approval of KCC who own the data).

 The Council work with Porchlight and Look Ahead Housing & Care to support rough 
sleepers but there are not enough places for those with complex needs that require long 
term support.

 The Vulnerability Panel has mechanisms in place that mean a case won’t be closed until 
all agencies are satisfied and the case can be re-opened if necessary.

Page 125



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 10.10.2019

6

 Chief Inspector Neil Loudon agreed to arrange a Kent Police briefing event for all 
Members in the Council Chamber.

 Chief Inspector Neil Loudon agreed to provide Members with an update on how data 
was recorded.

The Committee noted the Future Mid-Year Position 2019-20 – Progress and Performance 
Report.

70. Future Topics for Review 

The Assistant Director (Communities) presented the Committee with the Councillor proposed 
options for review at future meetings of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee:

1. Town Centre Crime
2. Illegal handling and use of drugs/alcohol in public places
3. Knife and violent youth crime
4. Rural and semi-rural areas
5. Drug-related issues

The Committee discussed each topic in turn and Members highlighted their preference.

The Committee felt that two reviews should be selected now and the remaining topics could 
be considered at a later date along with any new topics Members may wish to consider.

Resolved that:

 The Committee conduct a review of Town Centre Crime, chaired by Cllr Baljit Hayre
 The Committee conduct a review of knife and violent youth crime, chaired by Cllr Lauren 

Sullivan
 The Chair of the Committee (Cllr Steve Thompson) will liaise with the Chief Executive to 

clarify the political balance for each sub-group. Once clarified the membership of each 
sub-group will be decided. 

 Both reviews to run concurrently and be completed by March 2020.

71. Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel Minutes - June 2019 

The Committee considered the Kent & Medway Police and Crime Panel minutes of the 
meeting held on 14 November 2018

The Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure explained that the Police and Crime 
Commissioner will be coming to the Civic Centre on 12 November 2019, 2pm – 4pm. 

The Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure stated that he is happy to raise any items 
Members may have at the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel.

The Chair advised that for future meetings it would be good to have the agenda pack for the 
Kent & Medway Police and Crime Panel as well as the minutes.

Members noted the content of the minutes

Page 126



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 10.10.2019

7

The Chair explained that if Members of the Committee had any items they would like the 
Committee to consider then they should contact the Chair or Assistant Director 
(Communities) or the Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit).

Note: Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure) spoke with the 
leave of the Chair on this item.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at Time Not Specified

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 129 Agenda Item 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report – Quarter Two 2019/20
	Appendix 2 HRA - Business Plan Revenue Summary
	Appendix 3 HRA - Business Plan Capital Summary

	7 General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2019/20 – Quarter Two
	Appendix 2 MTFP - V4 - 2019-20 - BMR Q2
	Appendix 3 - Investments as at 30 September 2019

	8 Annual Review of the Payroll Shared Service
	Appendix

	9 Gravesham Borough Council Parking Services Enforcement Policy
	10 Procurement of Major & Planned Works, Servicing, Repairs & Maintenance Contracts
	Appendix 2 - Current Contracts
	Appendix 3 - Proposed Contracts
	Appendix 4 - Procurement Frameworks

	11 Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on Wednesday, 11 September 2019
	12 Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on Thursday, 10 October 2019
	15 Write Offs
	Appendix 2 - NNDR  15k write offs
	Appendix 3 - Corporate Write Offs Procedures


